Annali della Scuola Normale Superiore di Pisa *Classe di Scienze*

GUY BOUCHITTÉ

GIANNI DAL MASO

Integral representation and relaxation of convex local functionals on $BV(\Omega)$

Annali della Scuola Normale Superiore di Pisa, Classe di Scienze 4^{*e*} *série*, tome 20, n° 4 (1993), p. 483-533

<http://www.numdam.org/item?id=ASNSP_1993_4_20_4_483_0>

© Scuola Normale Superiore, Pisa, 1993, tous droits réservés.

L'accès aux archives de la revue « Annali della Scuola Normale Superiore di Pisa, Classe di Scienze » (http://www.sns.it/it/edizioni/riviste/annaliscienze/) implique l'accord avec les conditions générales d'utilisation (http://www.numdam.org/legal.php). Toute utilisation commerciale ou impression systématique est constitutive d'une infraction pénale. Toute copie ou impression de ce fichier doit contenir la présente mention de copyright.

\mathcal{N} umdam

Article numérisé dans le cadre du programme Numérisation de documents anciens mathématiques http://www.numdam.org/

Integral Representation and Relaxation of Convex Local Functionals on $BV(\Omega)$

GUY BOUCHITTÉ - GIANNI DAL MASO

Contents

Introduction

- 1. Preliminaries
 - 1.1. Measures and functions of bounded variation
 - 1.2. Duality and the divergence theorem: the space $X(\Omega)$
 - 1.3. Homogeneous integrands
- 2. Representation with respect to a given measure
 - 2.1. Representation of the absolutely continuous part of a local functional
 - 2.2. Representation of the duality pairing
 - 2.3. Integral representation on $W^{1,1}_{\mu}(\Omega)$
- 3. Representation of the conjugate functional
- 4. Representation of the relaxed functional
- 5. The main representation theorem
- Integral representation of Γ-limits References

Acknowledgements

A provisional draft of this paper was written during a visit of the first author to the International School for Advanced Studies (SISSA) of Trieste in May-June 1989. The final version was completed during a visit of the second author to the Université de Toulon et du Var in April 1991. The authors wish to thank these institutions for the support in the preparation of this paper.

Pervenuto alla Redazione il 27 Aprile 1991 e in forma definitiva il 16 Febbraio 1993.

G. BOUCHITTÉ - G. DAL MASO

Introduction

Relaxation, homogenization, and Γ -convergence problems for functionals with linear growth (for example, area-type integrals) often lead to the following question: given a bounded open subset Ω of \mathbb{R}^N and a functional F(u, A), depending on a function $u : \Omega \to \mathbb{R}$ and on an open subset A of Ω , is it possible to give an integral representation of F?

If $F(u, \cdot)$ is a measure on Ω and F(u, A) = F(v, A) whenever u - v is constant on A, then it is known that, under very mild additional assumptions, there exists a convex integrand $f: \Omega \times \mathbb{R}^N \to \mathbb{R}$ such that for every open subset A of Ω and for every function u in the Sobolev space $W^{1,1}(\Omega)$, one can write

$$F(u, A) = \int_{A} f(x, \nabla u(x)) dx,$$

where ∇u denotes the gradient of u (see the papers [17], [30], [13], [12], [9], [10], [2] and the books [5] and [8]).

These results are still not satisfactory for many applications, since all existence theorems for functionals with linear growth involve the space $BV(\Omega)$ of functions $u \in L^1_{loc}(\Omega)$ whose distributional gradient Du is an \mathbb{R}^N -valued Radon measure with bounded variation in Ω . Therefore, it is necessary to extend the above representation to functions u which are not in the Sobolev space $W^{1,1}(\Omega)$. This problem includes the particular case of the integral representation on $BV(\Omega)$ of the lower semicontinuous envelope \overline{J} of the functional

(0.1)
$$J(u, A) = \begin{cases} \int j(x, \nabla u(x)) dx & \text{if } u \in W^{1,1}(\Omega), \\ A & \\ +\infty & \text{if } u \in BV(\Omega) \setminus W^{1,1}(\Omega), \end{cases}$$

whose properties were studied in [31] under very general hypotheses on the integrand j. When j does not depend on x, an integral representation of \overline{J} on $BV(\Omega)$ is given in [24] (see also [33], Section 5, for a similar problem on $BD(\Omega)$). More generally, when j(x, z) is convex in z and satisfies suitable continuity assumptions with respect to x, it is known (see [22] and [15]) that for every $u \in BV(\Omega)$ the lower semicontinuous envelope \overline{J} of J can be written as

$$\overline{J}(u,A) = \int_{A} j(x,\nabla u(x))dx + \int_{A} j_{\infty}(x,\nu_{u}(x))|D^{s}u|,$$

where $|D^s u|$ is the variation of the singular part of the measure Du with respect to the Lebesgue measure \mathcal{L}^N , ∇u is the density of the absolutely continuous part, ν_u is the Radon-Nikodym derivative of the measure Du with respect to its variation |Du|, and $j_{\infty}(x, z)$ is the recession function of j(x, z) with respect to z.

Let us remark that the general case where j(x, z) is just measurable in x and convex in z cannot be treated using the methods of [22] and [15]. The main difficulty, when dealing with a general lower semicontinuous functional F on $BV(\Omega)$, is that $F(\cdot, A)$ is not uniquely determined by its restriction to any subspace of $BV(\Omega)$ consisting of smooth functions.

In this paper, denoting by $\mathcal{B}(\Omega)$ the σ -field of all Borel subsets of Ω , we consider functionals $F : BV(\Omega) \times \mathcal{B}(\Omega) \to [0, +\infty[$ such that:

- (H1) for every $u \in BV(\Omega)$ the set function $F(u, \cdot)$ is a Borel measure on Ω ;
- (H2) for every open subset A of Ω the function $F(\cdot, A)$ is convex and $L_{loc}^{N/(N-1)}(\Omega)$ -lower semicontinuous on $BV(\Omega)$;
- (H3) there exist a real constant γ and a bounded Radon measure α on Ω such that

$$0 \leq F(u,B) \leq \alpha(B) + \gamma \int\limits_{B} |Du|$$

for every $u \in BV(\Omega)$ and for every $B \in \mathcal{B}(\Omega)$.

Our main result (Theorem 5.1) is that, under hypotheses (H1), (H2) and (H3) there exist a positive Radon measure μ on Ω and two Borel functions f, $h: \Omega \times \mathbb{R}^N \to [0, +\infty[$ such that for every $u \in BV(\Omega)$ and for every $B \in \mathcal{B}(\Omega)$ we have

(0.2)
$$F(u,B) = \int_{B} f(x, \nabla_{\mu} u(x)) d\mu + \int_{B} h(x, \nu_{u}(x)) |D_{\mu}^{s} u|,$$

where $|D_{\mu}^{s}u|$ is the variation of the singular part of measure Du with respect to μ , and $\nabla_{\mu}u$ is the density of the absolutely continuous part with respect to μ . Moreover, for every $x \in \Omega$, $f(x, \cdot)$ is convex and $h(x, \cdot)$ is positively homogeneous of degree one on \mathbb{R}^{N} .

When F is the $L^{N/(N-1)}(\Omega)$ -lower semicontinuous envelope \overline{J} of the functional J introduced in (0.1), then μ is the Lebesgue measure and f and h can be computed explicitly in terms of j (Theorem 4.1). Then the necessary and sufficient conditions for the $L^{N/(N-1)}(\Omega)$ -lower semicontinuity of J on $W^{1,1}(\Omega)$, found in [21], follow easily from the equality f = j (Theorem 4.4).

In the last section we consider the problem of the integral representation of Γ -limits of functionals with linear growth, extending to $BV(\Omega)$ part of the results of [17]. We prove that, under some natural conditions, the Γ -limit Fcan be written in the form (0.2). An explicit example shows that the measure μ might be different from the Lebesgue measure \mathcal{L}^N . Finally, we determine a wide class of Γ -convergence problems for which the integral representation of the Γ -limit can be obtained with $\mu = \mathcal{L}^N$.

1. - Preliminaries

In this section we fix the notation and recall the main properties of measures and functions of bounded variation. Then we discuss some results of [3] and [4] about the duality between functions of bounded variation and bounded vector fields with divergence in $L^N(\Omega)$. This will allow us to study some properties of 1-homogeneous integrands.

1.1. - Measures and functions of bounded variation

Let Ω be a bounded open subset of \mathbb{R}^N , let $\mathcal{B}(\Omega)$ be the σ -field of all Borel subsets of Ω , let $\mathcal{A}(\Omega)$ be the family of all open subsets of Ω , and let $\mathcal{A}_c(\Omega)$ be the family of all open subsets of Ω with a Lipschitz boundary such that $\mathcal{A} \subset \subset \Omega$, i.e., \mathcal{A} is relatively compact in Ω .

A Borel measure on Ω is a countably additive set function $\mu : \mathcal{B}(\Omega) \rightarrow] - \infty, +\infty]$ such that $\mu(\emptyset) = 0$. Each positive Radon measure on Ω will be identified with the corresponding positive Borel measure μ , which satisfies $\mu(K) < +\infty$ for every compact subset K of Ω . A real valued Radon measure on Ω is the difference of two positive Radon measures on Ω and an \mathbb{R}^n -valued Radon measure on Ω will be identified with an *n*-tuple of real valued Radon measures on Ω . The total variation of a scalar or vector measure μ will be denoted by $|\mu|$. The Lebesgue measure on \mathbb{R}^N will be denoted by \mathcal{L}^N and the (N-1)-dimensional Hausdorff measure by H^{N-1} .

For any bounded positive Radon measure μ on Ω , $\mathcal{B}_{\mu}(\Omega)$ is the σ -field of all μ -measurable subsets of Ω . A closed valued multifunction $\Phi: \Omega \to \mathbb{R}^n$ is said to be μ -measurable if the set $\Phi^-(C) = \{x \in \Omega : \Phi(x) \cap C \neq \emptyset\}$ is μ -measurable for every closed subset C of \mathbb{R}^n . For the general properties of measurable multifunctions we refer to [14], Chapter III.

If $(\Phi_i)_{i\in I}$ is an arbitrary family of closed-valued μ -measurable multifunctions from Ω into \mathbb{R}^n , there exists a closed-valued μ -measurable multifunction $\Phi: \Omega \to \mathcal{P}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ with the following properties (see [34], Proposition 14):

- i) for every $i \in I$ we have $\Phi_i(x) \subseteq \Phi(x)$ for μ -a.e. $x \in \Omega$;
- ii) if $\Psi: \Omega \to \mathbb{R}^n$ is a closed-valued μ -measurable multifunction such that for every $i \in I$, $\Phi_i(x) \subseteq \Psi(x)$ for μ -a.e. $x \in \Omega$, then $\Phi(x) \subseteq \Psi(x)$ for μ -a.e. $x \in \Omega$.

This multifunction Φ is unique up to μ -equivalence and will be denoted by

(1.1)
$$\Phi(x) = \mu \operatorname{ess sup}_{i \in I} \Phi_i(x).$$

The space $C_c^k(\Omega, \mathbb{R}^n)$ $(k = 0, 1, ..., \infty)$ is the set of all \mathbb{R}^n -valued functions of class C^k with compact support in Ω , while $C^k(\overline{\Omega}, \mathbb{R}^n)$ is the set of

all \mathbb{R}^n -valued functions of class C^k in Ω whose derivatives up to order k are uniformly continuous in Ω . By $C_0^0(\Omega, \mathbb{R}^n)$ we denote the space of all continuous functions $u : \Omega \to \mathbb{R}^n$ such that the set $\{x \in \Omega : |u(x)| \ge t\}$ is compact in Ω for every t > 0. It is a Banach space with the norm $||u||_{C_0^0} = \max_{x \in \Omega} |u(x)|$. The dual of $C_0^0(\Omega, \mathbb{R}^n)$ is the space $M^b(\Omega, \mathbb{R}^n)$ of all \mathbb{R}^n -valued Radon measures with bounded total variation on Ω , endowed with the norm $||\mu||_{M^b} = |\mu|(\Omega)$. The duality pairing is given by $\langle \mu, \varphi \rangle = \int_{\Omega} \varphi d\mu$. The weak* topology on

 $\mathcal{M}^{b}(\Omega, \mathbb{R}^{n})$ is defined as the weakest topology on $\mathcal{M}^{b}(\Omega, \mathbb{R}^{n})$ for which the maps $\mu \mapsto \int_{\Omega} \varphi d\mu$ are continuous for every $\varphi \in C_{0}^{0}(\Omega, \mathbb{R}^{n})$. In other words, a net

 (μ_h) in $\mathcal{M}^b(\Omega, \mathbb{R}^n)$ converges weakly to μ if and only if $\int_{\Omega} \varphi d\mu_h \to \int_{\Omega} \varphi d\mu$ for every $\varphi \in C_0^0(\Omega, \mathbb{R}^n)$.

If n = 1, the previous spaces will be indicated by $C_c^k(\Omega)$, $C^k(\overline{\Omega})$, $C_0^0(\Omega)$ and $\mathcal{M}^b(\Omega)$. The cone of all bounded positive Radon measures on Ω will be denoted by $\mathcal{M}^b_+(\Omega)$.

Given $\mu \in M^b(\Omega, \mathbb{R}^n)$ and $\nu \in M^b_+(\Omega)$, we have a unique Lebesgue decomposition $\mu = \mu_a + \mu_s$, where μ_a is absolutely continuous and μ_s is singular with respect to ν . The density of μ_a with respect to ν will be indicated by $\frac{d\mu}{d\nu}$ and will be called the Radon-Nikodym derivative of μ with respect to ν . From the above definition it follows immediately that $\frac{d\mu}{d\nu} = \frac{d\mu_a}{d\nu} \nu$ -a.e. in Ω and $\mu(B) = \int_B \frac{d\mu}{d\nu} d\nu + \mu_s(B)$ for every $B \in \mathcal{B}(\Omega)$.

The space $BV(\Omega)$ of functions of bounded variation is defined as the space of all functions $u \in L^1_{loc}(\Omega)$ whose distributional gradient Du belongs to $\mathcal{M}^b(\Omega, \mathbb{R}^N)$. The total variation |Du| of the measure Du on a set $B \in \mathcal{B}(\Omega)$ will be indicated, as usual, by $\int_B |Du|$. Accordingly, the integral of a Borel function

 $f: B \to \mathbb{R}$ with respect to the measure |Du| will be denoted by $\int_{B} f|Du|$. Similar notation is used for the integrals with respect to the vector measure

Du. Given $\mu \in \mathcal{M}^b_+(\Omega)$ and $\mu \in BV(\Omega)$, the singular part of the measure Du with respect to μ will be indicated by $D^s_{\mu}u$. Moreover we set $\nabla_{\mu}u = \frac{dDu}{d\mu}$ and $\nu_{\mu} = \frac{dDu}{d\mu}$. Therefore

$$\nu_u = \frac{dDu}{d|Du|}$$
. Therefore

$$\int_{B} Du = \int_{B} \nabla_{\mu} u d\mu + \int_{B} \nu_{u} |D_{\mu}^{s}u|$$

for every $B \in \mathcal{B}(\Omega)$. If μ is the Lebesgue measure, $D^s_{\mu}u$ and $\nabla_{\mu}u$ will be denoted

by $D^s u$ and ∇u respectively. The Sobolev space $W^{1,1}(\Omega)$ is, by definition, the set of all functions $u \in BV(\Omega) \cap L^1(\Omega)$ such that $Du \ll \mathcal{L}^N$, i.e. Du is absolutely continuous with respect to the Lebesgue measure. For the general properties of $BV(\Omega)$ we refer to [23], [32], [35] and [26].

It is well known that $BV(\Omega)$ is contained in $L_{loc}^{N/(N-1)}(\Omega)$ and that, if Ω has a Lipschitz boundary, then $BV(\Omega)$ is contained in $L^{N/(N-1)}(\Omega)$ and

(1.2)
$$\inf_{r\in\mathbb{R}} \|u-t\|_{L^{N/(N-1)}} \leq c \int_{\Omega} |Du| \qquad \forall u \in BV(\Omega),$$

where the constant c depends only on Ω (see [26], Section 6.1.7).

The following proposition gives a useful characterization of the measures of $\mathcal{M}^b(\Omega, \mathbb{R}^N)$ which are gradients of functions of $BV(\Omega)$.

PROPOSITION 1.1. The set $\{Du : u \in BV(\Omega)\}$ is closed in the weak^{*} topology of $M^b(\Omega, \mathbb{R}^N)$. Moreover, for every $\mu \in M^b(\Omega, \mathbb{R}^N)$ the following conditions are equivalent:

- (i) there exists $u \in BV(\Omega)$ such that $\mu = Du$ in Ω ;
- (ii) $\int_{\Omega} \varphi d\mu = 0 \text{ for every } \varphi \in C^{\infty}_{c}(\Omega, \mathbb{R}^{N}) \text{ with } \operatorname{div} \varphi = 0 \text{ in } \Omega.$

PROOF. Let us prove first that $\mathcal{E} = \{Du : u \in BV(\Omega)\}$ is closed in the weak^{*} topology of $\mathcal{M}^b(\Omega, \mathbb{R}^N)$. By the Krein-Šmulian theorem (see [19], Theorem V.5.7) it is enough to show that the intersection of \mathcal{E} with every closed ball in $\mathcal{M}^b(\Omega, \mathbb{R}^N)$ is weakly^{*}-closed. Since the weak^{*} topology is metrizable on any closed ball of $\mathcal{M}^b(\Omega, \mathbb{R}^N)$, it is enough to prove that \mathcal{E} is sequentially weakly^{*}-closed. Let (μ_n) be a sequence in \mathcal{E} which converges to some measure μ in the weak^{*} topology of $\mathcal{M}^b(\Omega, \mathbb{R}^N)$. Then, for every $n \in \mathbb{N}$, there exists $u_n \in BV(\Omega)$ such that $\mu_n = Du_n$. Let $A \in \mathcal{A}_c(\Omega)$. By adding, if necessary, a constant to u_n , we may assume (see (1.2)) that

$$\|u_n\|_{L^{N/(N-1)}(A)} \leq c \int\limits_{\Omega} |Du_n| = c \|\mu_n\|_{\mathcal{M}^b},$$

and, since (μ_n) is bounded in $\mathcal{M}^b(\Omega, \mathbb{R}^N)$, there exists a subsequence of (u_n) which converges to some function u_A weakly in $L^{N/(N-1)}(A)$. It is then easy to check that $\mu|_A$ is the gradient of u_A in the distributional sense on A. Repeating this argument for every $A \in \mathcal{A}_c(\Omega)$, we can construct $u \in L^{N/N-1}_{loc}(\Omega)$ such that $\mu = Du$. This shows that $\mu \in \mathcal{E}$ and proves that \mathcal{E} is weakly*-closed in $\mathcal{M}^b(\Omega, \mathbb{R}^N)$.

Let us prove now the equivalence between (i) and (ii). Since $\int_{\Omega} \varphi Du =$

 $-\int_{\Omega} u \operatorname{div} \varphi dx \text{ for every } u \in BV(\Omega) \text{ and for every } \varphi \in C_{c}^{\infty}(\Omega, \mathbb{R}^{N}), \text{ it is clear}$

that (i) implies (ii).

Assume now (ii) and let $A \in \mathcal{A}_{c}(\Omega)$. Using the standard approximation technique by convolutions, we can prove that

(1.3)
$$\int_{\Omega} \varphi d\mu = 0 \qquad \forall \varphi \in C^0_{\rm c}(\Omega, \mathbb{R}^N), \text{ div } \varphi = 0 \text{ in } \Omega, \ \varphi = 0 \text{ in } \Omega \setminus A.$$

By the previous part of the proof the set $\mathcal{E}_A = \{Du : u \in BV(A)\}$ is weakly*-closed in $\mathcal{M}^b(A, \mathbb{R}^N)$. Therefore, by the Hahn-Banach Theorem, if $\mu|_A \notin \mathcal{E}_A$, then there exists $\psi \in C_0^0(A, \mathbb{R}^N)$ such that $\int \psi d\mu \neq 0$ and $\int \psi Du = 0$ for every $u \in BV(A)$. If φ is the function defined by $\varphi = \psi$ on A and $\varphi = 0$ on $\Omega \setminus A$, then $\varphi \in C_c^0(\Omega, \mathbb{R}^N)$,

(1.4)
$$\int_{\Omega} \varphi d\mu = \int_{A} \psi d\mu \neq 0,$$

and $\int_{\Omega} \varphi Du = \int_{\Omega} \psi Du = 0$ for every $u \in BV(\Omega)$. By taking $u \in C_c^{\infty}(\Omega)$ we get diverge 0 in the same of distributions in Ω , hence (1.4) contradicts (1.2). This

div $\varphi = 0$ in the sense of distributions in Ω , hence (1.4) contradicts (1.3). This proves that $\mu|_A \in \mathcal{E}_A$. Therefore, for any $A \in \mathcal{A}_c(\Omega)$ there exists $u_A \in BV(A)$ such that $\mu = Du_A$ in A. This allows us to construct $u \in L^1_{loc}(\Omega)$ such that $\mu = Du$ in the sense of distributions in Ω .

1.2. - Duality and divergence theorem: the space $X(\Omega)$

In order to obtain a good duality pairing involving $BV(\Omega)$, we introduce the Banach space

$$X(\Omega) = \{ \sigma \in L^{\infty}(\Omega, \mathbb{R}^N) : \operatorname{div} \sigma \in L^N(\Omega) \}$$

endowed with the norm $\|\sigma\|_X = \|\sigma\|_{L^{\infty}} + \|\operatorname{div} \sigma\|_{L^N}$. The weak* topology⁽¹⁾ on

⁽¹⁾ The Banach space $X(\Omega)$ is (isometric to) the dual of the Banach space Y/Z, where $Y=L^1(\Omega,\mathbb{R}^N)\times L^{N/(N-1)}(\Omega)$ endowed with the norm $||(\psi,u)||_Y=\max\{||\psi||_{L^1}, ||u||_{L^{N/(N-1)}}\}$, and Z is the closure in Y of the vector space $\{(\nabla u, u): u \in C_{\mathbb{C}}^{\infty}(\Omega)\}$. In fact, it is easy to check that $Z^{\perp}=\{(\sigma, \operatorname{div} \sigma): \sigma \in X(\Omega)\} \subseteq L^{\infty}(\Omega,\mathbb{R}^N)\times L^N(\Omega)=Y^*$, and that Z^{\perp} (endowed with the dual norm $||(\sigma, f)||_{Y^*}=||\sigma||_{L^\infty}+||f||_{L^N}$) is isometric to $(Y/Z)^*$ (see [19], Exercise II.4.18(b)). Denoting the z-equivalence class of $(\psi, u) \in Y$ by $[\psi, u]$, the isometry $\sigma \mapsto \Phi_{\sigma}$ between $X(\Omega)$ and $(Y/Z)^*$ is defined by

$$\Phi_{\sigma}([\psi, u]) = \int_{\Omega} \psi \sigma \, dx + \int_{\Omega} u \operatorname{div} \sigma \, dx \qquad \forall \sigma \in X(\Omega), \ \forall \psi \in L^{1}(\Omega, \mathbb{R}^{N}), \ \forall u \in L^{N/(N-1)}(\Omega).$$

Having identified $X(\Omega)$ with $(Y/Z)^*$, the corresponding weak* topology is defined as the weakest topology on $X(\Omega)$ for which the maps $\sigma \mapsto \Phi_{\sigma}([\psi, u])$ are continuous for every $\psi \in L^1(\Omega, \mathbb{R}^N)$ and for every $u \in L^{N/(N-1)}(\Omega)$.

 $X(\Omega)$ is defined as the weakest topology on $X(\Omega)$ for which the maps

$$\sigma \mapsto \int_{\Omega} \psi \sigma \, dx + \int_{\Omega} u \operatorname{div} \sigma \, dx$$

are continuous for every $\psi \in L^1(\Omega, \mathbb{R}^N)$ and for every $u \in L^{N/(N-1)}(\Omega)$. In other words, a net (σ_h) in $X(\Omega)$ converges weakly^{*} to σ if and only if

$$\sigma_h \to \sigma$$
 weakly^{*} in $L^{\infty}(\Omega, \mathbb{R}^N)$, div $\sigma_h \to \operatorname{div} \sigma$ weakly in $L^N(\Omega)$.

If we identify $X(\Omega)$ with the subspace $\{(\sigma, \operatorname{div} \sigma) : \sigma \in X(\Omega)\}$ of $L^{\infty}(\Omega, \mathbb{R}^N) \times L^N(\Omega)$, then the weak^{*} topology of $X(\Omega)$ coincides with the product of the weak^{*} topology of $L^{\infty}(\Omega, \mathbb{R}^N)$ and the weak topology of $L^N(\Omega)$. Therefore, the weak^{*} topology of $X(\Omega)$ is metrizable on all bounded subsets of $X(\Omega)$, and, by the Banach-Alaoglu Theorem, all bounded weakly^{*}-closed subsets of $X(\Omega)$ are weakly^{*}- sequentially compact.

We now consider the notion of normal trace for vector fields $\sigma \in X(\Omega)$. For H^{N-1} -a.e $x \in \partial \Omega$ we denote by $\nu_{\Omega}(x)$ the outer unit normal to Ω at x. The following proposition is proved in [3], Section 1.

PROPOSITION 1.2. Assume that Ω has a Lipschitz boundary. Then for every σ in $X(\Omega)$, there exists a unique function $[\sigma \cdot \nu_{\Omega}]$ in $L^{\infty}_{H^{N-1}}(\partial \Omega)$ such that

(1.5)
$$\int_{\partial\Omega} [\sigma \cdot \nu_{\Omega}] u dH^{N-1} = \int_{\Omega} u \operatorname{div} \sigma dx + \int_{\Omega} \sigma \nabla u dx \qquad \forall u \in C^{1}(\overline{\Omega}).$$

We can extend the previous identity to functions $u \in BV(\Omega)$ by giving a meaning to the integral $\int_{\Omega} (\sigma \cdot Du)$, which defines a duality product between $BV(\Omega)$ and $X(\Omega)$. For every $u \in BV(\Omega)$ and for every $\sigma \in X(\Omega)$ we define a measure $(\sigma \cdot Du)$ by setting

(1.6)
$$\int_{\Omega} \varphi(\sigma \cdot Du) = -\int_{\Omega} u\varphi \operatorname{div} \sigma dx - \int_{\Omega} u\sigma \nabla \varphi dx \qquad \forall \varphi \in C^{1}_{c}(\Omega).$$

The following proposition collects some properties of the measure $(\sigma \cdot Du)$ proved in [3].

PROPOSITION 1.3. For every $u \in BV(\Omega)$ and for every $\sigma \in X(\Omega)$ formula (1.6) defines a Radon measure on Ω , denoted by $(\sigma \cdot Du)$, which is absolutely continuous with respect to |Du|. Moreover

(i) for every $B \in \mathcal{B}(\Omega)$ we have $\int_{B} |(\sigma \cdot Du)| \leq c \int_{B} |Du|$, where $c = ||\sigma||_{L^{\infty}}$ and the left-hand side denotes the variation of the measure $(\sigma \cdot Du)$ on the set B;

491

- (ii) for every $u \in BV(\Omega)$ the linear operator $\sigma \mapsto \frac{d(\sigma \cdot Du)}{d|Du|}$ is sequentially continuous from $X(\Omega)$ into $L^{\infty}_{|Du|}(\Omega)$, when both spaces are endowed with the weak^{*} topology;
- (iii) for every $\varphi \in C^1(\overline{\Omega})$, $u \in BV(\Omega)$, $\sigma \in X(\Omega)$ one has $(\varphi \sigma \cdot Du) = \varphi(\sigma \cdot Du)$ and $(\sigma \cdot D(\varphi u)) = \varphi(\sigma \cdot Du) + u\sigma \nabla \varphi dx$ as measures in Ω ;
- (iv) for every $u \in BV(\Omega)$ and for every $\sigma \in X(\Omega)$ the function $\sigma \nabla u$ is the Radon-Nikodym derivative of the measure $(\sigma \cdot Du)$ with respect to the Lebesgue measure;

(v) if
$$\sigma \in C^1(\overline{\Omega}, \mathbb{R}^N)$$
, then $\int_B (\sigma \cdot Du) = \int_B \sigma Du$ for every $u \in BV(\Omega)$ and for every $B \in \mathcal{B}(\Omega)$;

(vi) if Ω has a Lipschitz boundary, then one has

$$\int_{\partial\Omega} [\sigma \cdot \nu_{\Omega}] u dH^{N-1} = \int_{\Omega} (\sigma \cdot Du) + \int_{\Omega} u \operatorname{div} \sigma dx$$

for every $u \in BV(\Omega)$ and for every $\sigma \in X(\Omega)$.

From assertion (iv) of Proposition 1.3 we deduce that $\sigma \nu_u$ is the Radon-Nikodym derivative of $(\sigma \cdot Du)$ with respect to |Du| when $u \in W^{1,1}(\Omega)$. In order to obtain a representation of $\frac{d(\sigma \cdot Du)}{d|Du|}$ in the general case, we introduce the following definition (see [4], Definition (2.9)).

DEFINITION 1.4. For every $\sigma \in X(\Omega)$ let $q_{\sigma} : \Omega \times \mathbb{R}^N \to \mathbb{R}$ be the Borel function defined by

(1.7)
$$q_{\sigma}(x,z) = \limsup_{\rho \to 0_{+}} \limsup_{r \to 0_{+}} \frac{1}{\mathcal{L}^{N}(C_{r,\rho}(x,\zeta))} \int_{C_{r,\rho}(x,\zeta)} \sigma(y) z dy,$$

where $\zeta = z/|z|$ and $C_{r,\rho}(x,\zeta)$ is the cylinder

$$C_{r,\rho}(x,\zeta) = \{y \in \mathbb{R}^N : |(y-x)\zeta| < r, |(y-x) - [(y-x)\zeta]\zeta| < \rho\}.$$

REMARK 1.5. It follows immediately from the definition that $q_{\sigma}(x, z)$ is positively 1-homogeneous with respect to z. Moreover, for every $(x, z) \in \Omega \times \mathbb{R}^N$ we have $|q_{\sigma}(x, z)| \leq |z| ||\sigma||_{L^{\infty}}$ and $q_{\varphi\sigma}(x, z) = \varphi(x)q_{\sigma}(x, z)$, provided $\varphi \in C^1(\overline{\Omega})$ and $\varphi \geq 0$ on Ω .

The following proposition is proved in [4].

PROPOSITION 1.6. For every $u \in BV(\Omega)$ and for every $\sigma \in X(\Omega)$ we have

 $\frac{d(\sigma \cdot Du)}{d|Du|} = q_{\sigma}(x, \nu_{u}) |Du| - a.e. \text{ in } \Omega, \text{ i.e.,}$ $\int (\sigma - Du) = \int \sigma (\sigma + u) |Du| = \sqrt{\alpha}$

$$\int_{B} (\sigma \cdot Du) = \int_{B} q_{\sigma}(x, \nu_{u}) |Du| \qquad \forall u \in BV(\Omega).$$

Moreover for |Du|-a.e. $x \in \Omega$ and for $z = \nu_u(x)$ the upper limits in (1.7) are actually limits.

The following lemma will be used in the next section.

LEMMA 1.7. Let $A \in \mathcal{A}_{c}(\Omega)$ and let σ be an element of $X(\Omega)$ such that $\sigma = 0 \mathcal{L}^{N}$ -a.e. on $\Omega \setminus A$. Then, for every $u \in BV(\Omega)$ the measure $(\sigma \cdot Du)$ is identically zero on $\Omega \setminus A$, hence $q_{\sigma}(x, \nu_{u}) = 0$ blank space |Du|-a.e. on $\Omega \setminus A$.

PROOF. Since $\sigma = 0$ a.e. on $\Omega \setminus A$, we have div $\sigma = 0$ in the sense of distributions on $\Omega \setminus \overline{A}$. As div $\sigma \in L^N(\Omega)$ and $\mathcal{L}^N(\partial A) = 0$, we get div $\sigma = 0$ \mathcal{L}^N -a.e. on $\Omega \setminus A$. Therefore, it follows immediately from (1.5) that $[\sigma \cdot \nu_A] = 0$ H^{N-1} -a.e. on ∂A . Let $u \in BV(\Omega)$ and $\varphi \in C_c^1(\Omega)$. If we apply Proposition 1.3(vi) with Ω replaced by A and u replaced by φu , by (1.6) and by Proposition 1.3(iii) we obtain

$$\int_{\Omega} \varphi(\sigma \cdot Du) = -\int_{\Omega} u\varphi \operatorname{div} \sigma \, dx - \int_{\Omega} u\sigma \, \nabla \varphi \, dx$$
$$= -\int_{A} u\varphi \operatorname{div} \sigma \, dx - \int_{A} u\sigma \, \nabla \varphi \, dx = \int_{A} \varphi(\sigma \cdot Du),$$

which implies that the measure $(\sigma \cdot Du)$ is identically zero on $\Omega \setminus A$. The conclusion follows now from Proposition 1.6.

1.3. - Homogeneous integrands

A homogeneous integrand is, for us, a Borel function $h: \Omega \times \mathbb{R}^N \to]-\infty, +\infty]$, satisfying the following conditions:

- (a) h(x,tz) = th(x,z) for every $x \in \Omega$, $z \in \mathbb{R}^N$, t > 0;
- (b) there exists a negative constant $c \in \mathbb{R}$, such that $h(x, z) \ge c|z|$ for every $x \in \Omega, z \in \mathbb{R}^N$.

In what follows, we shall use a partial order between integrands. Given two homogeneous integrands, we define the relations $h_1 \le h_2$ and $h_1 \sim h_2$ by

(1.8)
$$h_1 \leq h_2 \Leftrightarrow \forall u \in BV(\Omega), \ h_1(x,\nu_u) \leq h_2(x,\nu_u) \ |Du|$$
-a.e. in Ω ,

(1.9)
$$h_1 \sim h_2 \Leftrightarrow \forall u \in BV(\Omega), \ h_1(x, \nu_u) = h_2(x, \nu_u) \ |Du|$$
-a.e. in Ω .

If the inequality in (1.8) (resp. the equality in (1.9)) occurs only |Du|-a.e. on some Borel subset B of Ω , we shall write $h_1 < h_2$ on B (resp. $h_1 \sim h_2$ on B).

In the following proposition we associate a homogeneous integrand h_K with any subset K of $X(\Omega)$.

PROPOSITION 1.8. Let K be a subset of $X(\Omega)$. Then there exists a homogeneous integrand h_K such that:

- (i) $q_{\sigma} < h_K$ for every $\sigma \in K$;
- (ii) if h is a homogeneous integrand such that $q_{\sigma} \leq h$ for every $\sigma \in K$, then $h_K \leq h$.

Moreover, for every $u \in BV(\Omega)$ we have

(1.10)
$$h_K(x,\nu_u) = |Du| - \operatorname{ess\,sup}_{\sigma \in K} q_\sigma(x,\nu_u) \qquad |Du| - a.e. \ in \ \Omega.$$

If h' is another homogeneous integrand satisfying (i) and (ii), then $h' \sim h_K$. Finally, if D is countable and sequentially weakly*-dense in K, and h_D is defined by

(1.11)
$$h_D(x,z) = \sup_{\sigma \in D} q_\sigma(x,z),$$

then $h_D \sim h_K$.

PROOF. Since $X(\Omega)$ is a countable union of compact metrizable subsets, we can choose a countable subset D of K which is sequentially weakly*-dense in K. Let h_D be the homogeneous integrand defined by (1.11), let $\sigma \in K$, and let $u \in BV(\Omega)$. Since D is sequentially weakly*-dense in K, there exists a sequence (σ_n) in D converging to σ weakly* in $X(\Omega)$. By Proposition 1.3(ii) and 1.6 the sequence $(q_{\sigma_n}(x,\nu_u))$ converges to $q_{\sigma}(x,\nu_u)$ in the weak* topology of $L_{|Du|}^{\infty}(\Omega)$. Since $q_{\sigma_n}(x,\nu_u) \leq h_D(x,\nu_n) |Du|$ -a.e. in Ω , we get $q_{\sigma}(x,\nu_u) \leq h_D(x,\nu_u)$ |Du|-a.e. in Ω . As this inequality holds for every $u \in BV(\Omega)$, we have $q_{\sigma} \leq h_D$ for every $\sigma \in K$. If h is a homogeneous integrand such that $q_{\sigma} \leq h$ for every $\sigma \in K$, then $q_{\sigma}(x,\nu_u) \leq h(x,\nu_u) |Du|$ -a.e. in Ω for every $\sigma \in D$. By (1.11) this implies that $h_D(x,\nu_u) \leq h(x,\nu_u) |Du|$ -a.e. in Ω , hence $h_D \leq h$. This shows that h_D satisfies conditions (i) and (ii) and proves the existence of h_K .

If h' is another homogeneous integrand satisfying (i) and (ii), then $h' \leq h_K$ and $h_K \leq h'$, hence $h' \sim h_K$. In particular, since h_D satisfies (i) and (ii), we have $h_D \sim h_K$. If $u \in BV(\Omega)$, then the inequality

$$h_K(x,\nu_u) \ge |Du| - \operatorname{ess\,sup}_{\sigma \in K} q_\sigma(x,\nu_u) \qquad |Du| - a.e. \text{ in } \Omega$$

is a consequence of (i). Since the opposite inequality is trivial for h_D , (1.10) follows from the equivalence $h_D \sim h_K$.

We conclude this section with a technical lemma which will be very useful in Section 4.

LEMMA 1.9. Let $A \in \mathcal{A}_{c}(\Omega)$, let K and K' be two subsets of $X(\Omega)$ with $K' \subseteq K$, and let h and h' be the corresponding homogeneous integrands. Suppose that $\sigma = 0$ \mathcal{L}^{N} -a.e. on $\Omega \setminus A$ for every $\sigma \in K'$ and that $\varphi \sigma \in K'$ for every $\sigma \in K$ and for every $\varphi \in C_{c}^{1}(A)$ with $0 \leq \varphi \leq 1$. Then $h' \sim h_{A}$, where $h_{A}(x, z) = h(x, z)$ if $x \in A$, and $h_{A}(x, z) = 0$ if $x \in \Omega \setminus A$.

PROOF. By Lemma 1.7 and by (1.10) we have $h' \sim 0$ on $\Omega \setminus A$. Since $K' \subseteq K$, it is obvious that $h' \leq h$ on A. To prove the opposite inequality, let A' be an open set with $A' \subset \subset A$ and let $\varphi \in C_c^1(A)$ with $\varphi = 1$ on A' and $0 \leq \varphi \leq 1$ on A. For every $\sigma \in K$ we have $\varphi \sigma \in K'$ and, by Remark 1.5, we have $q_{\sigma}(x, z) = q_{\varphi\sigma}(x, z)$ for every $x \in A'$ and for every $z \in \mathbb{R}^N$. By (1.10) this implies $h(x, \nu_u) \leq h'(x, \nu_u) |Du|$ -a.e. in A', for every $u \in BV(\Omega)$. Since A' is an arbitrary open set with $A' \subset \subset A$, we obtain $h(x, \nu_u) \leq h'(x, \nu_u) |Du|$ -a.e. in A, which gives $h \leq h'$ on A.

2. - Representation with respect to a given measure

Let $F : BV(\Omega) \times \mathcal{B}(\Omega) \to [0, +\infty[$ be a functional satisfying the hypotheses (H1), (H2) and (H3) considered in the Introduction. Our aim in this section is to give an integral representation of F(u, B) for those functions u of $BV(\Omega)$ whose gradient Du is absolutely continuous with respect to a prescribed measure μ .

Throughout this section we fix a measure $\mu \in \mathcal{M}^b_+(\Omega)$, with $\mathcal{L}^N \ll \mu$, and we consider the space $W^{1,1}_{\mu}(\Omega)$ defined by

(2.1)
$$W_{\mu}^{1,1}(\Omega) = \{ u \in BV(\Omega) : Du \ll \mu \}.$$

As the Lebesgue measure in absolutely continuous with respect to μ , the space $W^{1,1}_{\mu}(\Omega)$ is not trivial, because of the inclusion $W^{1,1}(\Omega) \subseteq W^{1,1}_{\mu}(\Omega)$ (that justifies our assumption on μ).

We shall also use the closed-valued multifunction $E_{\mu} : \Omega \to \mathcal{P}(\mathbb{R}^N)$ defined (see (1.1)) by

(2.2)
$$E_{\mu}(x) = \mu - \operatorname{ess\,sup}_{u \in BV(\Omega)} \{ \nabla_{\mu} u(x) \}.$$

Recall that, by definition, E_{μ} is the smallest closed-valued μ -measurable multifunction such that $\nabla_{\mu}u(x) \in E_{\mu}(x)$ for μ -a.e. $x \in \Omega$ for every $u \in BV(\Omega)$. An easy way to construct E_{μ} is to choose a countable subset D of $BV(\Omega)$ such that the set $\{\nabla_{\mu}u : u \in D\}$ is dense in the subspace $\mathcal{E}_{\mu} = \{\nabla_{\mu}u : u \in BV(\Omega)\}$ of $L^{1}_{\mu}(\Omega, \mathbb{R}^{N})$. Then one easily checks that

(2.3)
$$E_{\mu}(x) = \operatorname{cl}\{\nabla_{\mu}u(x) : u \in D\} \text{ for } \mu\text{-a.e. } x \in \Omega,$$

where cl denotes the closure in \mathbb{R}^N . Since \mathcal{E}_{μ} is a linear space, we may assume that the set *D* is closed under finite linear combinations with rational coefficients. Therefore (2.3) shows that $E_{\mu}(x)$ is a linear subspace of \mathbb{R}^N for μ -a.e. $x \in \Omega$. By taking *u* linear one easily checks that

(2.4)
$$E_{\mu}(x) = \mathbb{R}^{N}$$
 for \mathcal{L}^{N} - a.e. $x \in \Omega$.

REMARK 2.1. When μ is the Lebesgue measure \mathcal{L}^N , then $E_{\mu}(x) = \mathbb{R}^N$ for μ -a.e. $x \in \Omega$. Let us underline the fact that this is not true for a general $\mu \in \mathcal{M}^{k}_{+}(\Omega)$. For instance, if

$$\mu(B) = \mathcal{L}^{N}(B) + H^{N-1}(B \cap \Sigma) \qquad \forall B \in \mathcal{B}(\Omega),$$

where Σ is a smooth hypersurface in \mathbb{R}^N , then $E_{\mu}(x) = \mathbb{R}^N$ for μ -a.e. $x \in \Omega \setminus \Sigma$ and $E_{\mu}(x) = \{t\nu(x) : t \in \mathbb{R}\}$ for μ -a.e. $x \in \Omega \cap \Sigma$, where $\nu(x)$ is a unit vector normal to Σ at x.

We shall use the following result due to G. Alberti.

THEOREM 2.2. Let $\mu \in \mathcal{M}^b_+(\Omega)$, with $\mathcal{L}^N \ll \mu$, and let $\psi \in L^1_\mu(\Omega, \mathbb{R}^N)$ be a function such that $\psi(x) \in E_\mu(x)$ for μ -a.e. $x \in \Omega$. Then there exists $u \in BV(\Omega)$ such that $\nabla_\mu u = \psi$ μ -a.e. in Ω .

PROOF. See [1], Theorem 2.12.

2.1. - Representation of the absolutely continuous part of a local functional

We now prove a general integral representation theorem for the absolutely continuous part (with respect to μ) of a Lipschitz continuous local functional. This result will be used to study the Radon-Nikodym derivative (with respect to μ) of the duality measure ($\sigma \cdot Du$) defined by (1.6) (Section 2.2), and to obtain an integral representation of the functional F on the space $W^{1,1}_{\mu}(\Omega)$ introduced in (2.1) (Section 2.3).

THEOREM 2.3. Let $\mu \in M^b_+(\Omega)$, with $\mathcal{L}^N \ll \mu$, and let $G : BV(\Omega) \times \mathcal{B}(\Omega) \to \mathbb{R}$ be a functional with the following properties:

(a) G(0, B) = 0 for every $B \in \mathcal{B}(\Omega)$;

- (b) there exists a constant c > 0 such that $|G(u, B) G(v, B)| \le c \int_{B} |Du Dv|$ for every $u, v \in BV(\Omega)$ and for every $B \in \mathcal{B}(\Omega)$;
- (c) $G(u, \cdot)$ is a Borel measure on Ω for every $u \in BV(\Omega)$.

For every $u \in BV(\Omega)$ let $G_a(u, \cdot)$ be the absolutely continuous part of the measure $G(u, \cdot)$ with respect to μ . Then there exists a Borel integrand $j: \Omega \times \mathbb{R}^N \to \mathbb{R}$ such that

- (i) j(x,0) = 0 for μ -a.e. $x \in \Omega$;
- (ii) for μ -a.e. $x \in \Omega$ and for every $z_1, z_2 \in \mathbb{R}^N$ we have $|j(x, z_1) j(x, z_2)| \le c|p_x(z_1) p_x(z_2)|$, where p_x denotes the orthogonal projection on $E_{\mu}(x)$;
- (iii) for every $u \in BV(\Omega)$ and for every $B \in \mathcal{B}(\Omega)$ we have

$$G_a(u,B) = \int_B j(x,\nabla_\mu u)d\mu.$$

If j' is another $\mathcal{B}_{\mu}(\Omega) \times \mathcal{B}(\mathbb{R}^N)$ -measurable integrand satisfying (i), (ii) and (iii), then $j(x, \cdot) = j'(x, \cdot)$ on \mathbb{R}^N for μ -a.e. $x \in \Omega$. If $G(\cdot, A)$ is convex (resp. linear) for every open subset A of Ω , so is the function $j(x, \cdot)$ for μ -a.e. $x \in \Omega$.

PROOF. From (b) we obtain

(2.5)
$$|G_a(u,B) - G_a(v,B)| \le c \int_B |\nabla_\mu u - \nabla_\mu v| d\mu \qquad \forall u, \ v \in BV(\Omega),$$
$$\forall B \in \mathcal{B}(\Omega),$$

Using (a), we obtain also $|G_a(u, B)| \leq c \int_B |\nabla_{\mu} u| d\mu$ for every $u \in BV(\Omega)$ and for every $B \in \mathcal{B}(\Omega)$. Therefore, by the Radon-Nikodym Theorem, for every $u \in BV(\Omega)$ there exists $f_u \in L^1_{\mu}(\Omega)$ such that

(2.6)
$$G_a(u,B) = \int_B f_u d\mu \qquad \forall B \in \mathcal{B}(\Omega).$$

By localization, (2.5) implies that for every $u, v \in BV(\Omega)$ we have

(2.7)
$$|f_u(x) - f_v(x)| \le c |\nabla_\mu u(x) - \nabla_\mu v(x)| \quad \text{for } \mu\text{-a.e. } x \in \Omega.$$

Choose now a countable subset D of $BV(\Omega)$ containing 0 such that the set $\{\nabla_{\mu}u : u \in D\}$ is $L^{1}_{\mu}(\Omega, \mathbb{R}^{N})$ -dense in the set $\mathcal{E}_{\mu} = \{\nabla_{\mu}u : u \in BV(\Omega)\}$ and, consequently,

(2.8)
$$E_{\mu}(x) = \operatorname{cl}\{\nabla_{\mu}u(x) : u \in D\} \quad \text{for } \mu\text{-a.e. } x \in \Omega.$$

As D is countable, there exists $M \subseteq \Omega$, with $\mu(M) = 0$, such that (2.7) and (2.8) hold for every $x \in \Omega \setminus M$ and for every $(u, v) \in D \times D$. Moreover we may assume that $E_{\mu}(x)$ is a linear subspace of \mathbb{R}^N for every $x \in \Omega \setminus M$.

For every $\delta > 0$ consider the function $\psi_{u,\delta} : \Omega \times \mathbb{R}^N \to] -\infty, +\infty]$ defined by

(2.9)
$$\psi_{u,\delta}(x,z) = \begin{cases} f_u(x) & \text{if } x \in \Omega \backslash M \text{ and } |p_x(z) - \nabla_\mu u(x)| < \delta, \\ +\infty & \text{otherwise,} \end{cases}$$

and define $j_{\mu}: \Omega \times \mathbb{R}^N \to \overline{\mathbb{R}}$ by

(2.10)
$$j_{\mu}(x,z) = \sup_{\delta > 0} \inf_{u \in D} \psi_{u,\delta}(x,z) = \liminf_{\delta \to 0_{+}} \psi_{u,\delta}(x,z)$$

(note that $\psi_{u,\delta}(x,z)$ is decreasing in δ).

Since D is countable and $(x, z) \mapsto p_x(z)$ is $\mathcal{B}_{\mu}(\Omega) \times \mathcal{B}(\mathbb{R}^N)$ -measurable, (see [14], Theorem III.41), the integrand j_{μ} is $\mathcal{B}_{\mu}(\Omega) \times \mathcal{B}(\mathbb{R}^N)$ -measurable.

Let us prove that for every $u \in D$ we have

(2.11)
$$j_{\mu}(x, \nabla_{\mu} u(x)) = f_u(x) \quad \forall x \in \Omega \setminus M.$$

By (2.8) we have $\nabla_{\mu}u(x) \in E_{\mu}(x)$, hence $p_x(\nabla_{\mu}u(x)) = \nabla_{\mu}u(x)$ for every $x \in \Omega \setminus M$. This implies, by the definition (2.9) of $\psi_{u,\delta}$, that $\psi_{u,\delta}(x, \nabla_{\mu}u(x)) = f_u(x)$ for every $x \in \Omega \setminus M$ and for every $\delta > 0$, hence

(2.12)
$$j_{\mu}(x, \nabla_{\mu}u(x)) \leq f_{u}(x) \quad \forall x \in \Omega \setminus M.$$

On the other hand (2.7) and (2.9) imply that for any $v \in D$ we have $\psi_{v,\delta}(x, \nabla_{\mu}u(x)) \geq f_u(x) - c\delta$ for every $x \in \Omega \setminus M$. Therefore, the definition (2.10) of j_{μ} gives $j_{\mu}(x, \nabla_{\mu}u(x)) \geq f_u(x)$ for every $x \in \Omega \setminus M$, which, together with (2.12), yields (2.11).

Let us prove that j_{μ} satisfies conditions (i), (ii) and (iii). Since $0 \in D$, by (2.6) and (2.11) we obtain $G_a(0,B) = \int_B j_{\mu}(x,0)d\mu$ for every $B \in \mathcal{B}(\Omega)$. Condition (i) follows now from (a).

Let us prove (ii). For every $x \in \Omega \setminus M$ and for every $z \in \mathbb{R}^N$, by (2.9) and (2.10) there exists a sequence (u_n) in D such that

(2.13)
$$\nabla_{\mu} u_n(x) \to p_x(z), \qquad f_{u_n}(x) \to j_{\mu}(x,z).$$

Let us apply (2.13) with $z = z_1$ and $z = z_2$. Then there exist two sequences (u_n) and (v_n) in D such that

(2.14)
$$|p_x(z_1) - p_x(z_2)| = \lim_{n \to \infty} |\nabla_{\mu} u_n(x) - \nabla_{\mu} v_n(x)|,$$

(2.15)
$$|j_{\mu}(x,z_1) - j_{\mu}(x,z_2)| = \lim_{n \to \infty} |f_{u_n}(x) - f_{v_n}(x)|.$$

By (2.7) we also have $|f_{u_n}(x) - f_{v_n}(x)| \le c |\nabla_{\mu} u_n(x) - \nabla_{\mu} v_n(x)|$, which, together with (2.14) and (2.15), gives (ii).

By (2.6) and (2.11) we have

(2.16)
$$G_a(u,B) = \int_B j_\mu(x,\nabla_\mu u)d\mu \qquad \forall u \in D, \ \forall B \in \mathcal{B}(\Omega).$$

Let now $u \in BV(\Omega)$. Since $\nabla_{\mu} u \in \mathcal{E}_{\mu}$ and D is dense in \mathcal{E}_{μ} , there exists a sequence (u_n) in D such that $(\nabla_{\mu} u_n)$ converges to $\nabla_{\mu} u$ in $L^1_{\mu}(\Omega, \mathbb{R}^N)$. Since, by (2.16),

$$G_a(u_n,B) = \int\limits_B j_\mu(x, \nabla_\mu u_n) d\mu \qquad \forall B \in \mathcal{B}(\Omega), \ \forall n \in N.$$

the representation formula (iii) for u is a consequence of the continuity property of G_a and j_{μ} stated in (2.5) and (ii).

Since j_{μ} satisfies (i) and (ii), there exist a Borel integrand $j: \Omega \times \mathbb{R}^N \to \mathbb{R}$ and a Borel set $N \subseteq \Omega$, with $\mu(N) = 0$, such that $j_{\mu}(x, z) = j(x, z)$ for every $x \in \Omega \setminus N$ and for every $z \in \mathbb{R}^N$. This implies that j satisfies conditions (i), (ii) and (iii).

Let j' be another $\mathcal{B}_{\mu}(\Omega) \times \mathcal{B}(\mathbb{R}^N)$ -measurable integrand satisfying (i), (ii) and (iii). Then there exists $M' \subseteq \Omega$, with $\mu(M') = 0$, such that for every $x \in \Omega \setminus M'$ we have

$$\begin{split} j(x, \nabla_{\mu} u(x)) &= j'(x, \nabla_{\mu} u(x)) & \forall u \in D, \\ |j(x, z_1) - j(x, z_1)| &\leq c |p_x(z_1) - p_x(z_2)| & \forall z_1, \ z_2 \in \mathbb{R}^N, \\ |j'(x, z_1) - j'(x, z_2)| &\leq c |p_x(z_1) - p_x(z_2)| & \forall z_1, \ z_2 \in \mathbb{R}^N. \end{split}$$

Then, using the continuity of $j(x \cdot)$ and $j'(x, \cdot)$ and the density of $\{\nabla_{\mu}u(x) : u \in D\}$ in $E_{\mu}(x)$, one gets $j(x, z) = j(x, p_x(z)) = j'(x, p_x(z)) = j'(x, z)$ for every $x \in \Omega \setminus M'$ and for every $z \in \mathbb{R}^N$.

Assume now that $G(\cdot, A)$ is convex on $BV(\Omega)$ for every open subset A of Ω . Since $G(u, \cdot)$ is a bounded Radon measure, for every $u \in BV(\Omega)$ and for every $B \in \mathcal{B}(\Omega)$ we have $G(u, B) = \inf\{G(u, A) : A \text{ open}, B \subseteq A\}$. Therefore $G_a(\cdot, B)$ is convex on $BV(\Omega)$ for every $B \in \mathcal{B}(\Omega)$. By (ii), (iii), and by localization, there exists $M'' \subseteq \Omega$, with $\mu(M'') = 0$, such that $j(x, \cdot)$ is continuous on \mathbb{R}^N for every $x \in \Omega \setminus M''$ and

$$\begin{split} j\left(x, \ \frac{\nabla_{\mu}u(x) + \nabla_{\mu}v(x)}{2}\right) &\leq \frac{1}{2} \ j(x, \nabla_{\mu}u(x)) \\ &+ \frac{1}{2} \ j(x, \nabla_{\mu}v(x)) \qquad \forall x \in \Omega \backslash M'', \ \forall u, \ v \in D. \end{split}$$

Hence, by continuity, $j(x, \cdot)$ is convex on $E_{\mu}(x)$ for every $x \in \Omega \setminus M''$. The convexity on \mathbb{R}^N follows from the fact that $j(x, z) = j(x, p_x(z))$ by (ii).

If $G(\cdot, A)$ is linear, we just apply the above argument to G and -G. \Box

2.2. - Representation of the duality pairing

We now give the application of Theorem 2.3 to the duality pairing $(\sigma \cdot Du)$ between $X(\Omega)$ and $BV(\Omega)$ defined in Section 1.2.

PROPOSITION 2.4. Let $\mu \in M^b_+(\Omega)$ with $\mathcal{L}^N \ll \mu$. Then for every $\sigma \in X(\Omega)$ there exists a unique $\sigma_{\mu} \in L^{\infty}_{\mu}(\Omega, \mathbb{R}^N)$ such that:

- (a) $\sigma_{\mu}(x) \in E_{\mu}(x)$ for μ -a.e. $x \in \Omega$;
- (b) $\frac{d(\sigma \cdot Du)}{d\mu} = \sigma_{\mu} \nabla_{\mu} u \ \mu$ -a.e. in Ω for every $u \in BV(\Omega)$.

Moreover the lifting operator $\sigma \mapsto \sigma_{\mu}$ is sequentially continuous from the weak^{*} topology of $X(\Omega)$ into the weak^{*} topology of $L^{\infty}_{\mu}(\Omega, \mathbb{R}^N)$ and one has:

- (i) $\|\sigma_{\mu}\|_{L^{\infty}_{\mu}} \leq \|\sigma\|_{L^{\infty}}$ for every $\sigma \in X(\Omega)$;
- (ii) $\sigma_{\mu}(x) = p_x(\sigma(x))$ for μ -a.e. $x \in \Omega$ and for every $\sigma \in C^1(\overline{\Omega}, \mathbb{R}^N)$;
- (iii) $\sigma_{\mu} = \sigma \mathcal{L}^{N}$ -a.e. in Ω for every $\sigma \in X(\Omega)$;
- (iv) $(\varphi \sigma)_{\mu} = \varphi \sigma_{\mu} \ \mu$ -a.e. in Ω for every $\varphi \in C^{1}(\overline{\Omega})$ and for every $\sigma \in X(\Omega)$;
- (v) if $A \in \mathcal{A}_{c}(\Omega)$ and $\sigma = 0$ \mathcal{L}^{N} -a.e. on $\Omega \setminus A$, then $\sigma_{\mu} = 0$ μ -a.e. on $\Omega \setminus A$.

PROOF. Let $\sigma \in X(\Omega)$ and consider the functional $G: BV(\Omega) \times \mathcal{B}(\Omega) \to \mathbb{R}$ defined by $G(u, B) = \int_{B} (\sigma \cdot Du)$. Clearly G satisfies conditions (a) and (c) of

Theorem 2.3 and condition (b) with $c = \|\sigma\|_{L^{\infty}}$ (see Proposition 1.3(i)). Then there exists a Borel integrand $j: \Omega \times \mathbb{R}^N \to \mathbb{R}$ which satisfies conditions (i), (ii) and (iii) of Theorem 2.3. Since $G(\cdot, B)$ is linear on $BV(\Omega)$ for every $B \in \mathcal{B}(\Omega)$ (see (1.6)), the last assertion of Theorem 2.3 implies that there exists a Borel function $\sigma_{\mu}: \Omega \to \mathbb{R}^N$ such that $j(x, z) = \sigma_{\mu}(x)z$ for μ -a.e. $x \in \Omega$ and for every $z \in \mathbb{R}^N$. Using condition (ii) of Theorem 2.3 we get $\sigma_{\mu}(x)z = \sigma_{\mu}(x)p_x(z)$ for μ -a.e. $x \in \Omega$ and for every $z \in \mathbb{R}^N$, which implies (a), and also $|\sigma_{\mu}(x)| \le c = ||\sigma||_{L^{\infty}}$ for μ - a.e. $x \in \Omega$, which proves (i). Equality (b) follows from condition (iii) of Theorem 2.3.

Let σ'_{μ} be another element of $L^{\infty}_{\mu}(\Omega, \mathbb{R}^N)$ which satisfies (a) and (b). Then the integrand $j'(x, z) = \sigma'_{\mu}(x)z$ satisfies conditions (i), (ii) and (iii) of Theorem 2.3, hence $j'(x, \cdot) = j(x, \cdot)$ on \mathbb{R}^N for μ -a.e. $x \in \Omega$, which yields $\sigma'_{\mu} = \sigma_{\mu}$ μ -a.e. in Ω .

Let us prove (ii). By (b) and by Proposition 1.3(i), for every $u \in BV(\Omega)$ we have

(2.17)
$$\int_{B} (\sigma \cdot Du) = \int_{B} \sigma_{\mu} \nabla_{\mu} u d\mu$$

for every $B \in \mathcal{B}(\Omega)$ such that $\int_{B} |D^{s}_{\mu}u| = 0$. If $\sigma \in C^{1}(\overline{\Omega}, \mathbb{R}^{N})$, one has (see

G. BOUCHITTÉ - G. DAL MASO

Proposition 1.3(v)) $\int_{B} (\sigma \cdot Du) = \int_{B} \sigma Du = \int_{B} \sigma \nabla_{\mu} u d\mu$. Comparing with (2.17) and using localization one gets

(2.18)
$$\sigma \nabla_{\mu} u = \sigma_{\mu} \nabla_{\mu} u \ \mu\text{-a.e. in } \Omega.$$

Since this holds for every $u \in BV(\Omega)$, we choose a countable subset D of $BV(\Omega)$ such that the set $\{\nabla_{\mu}u(x) : u \in D\}$ is dense in $E_{\mu}(x)$ for μ -a.e. $x \in \Omega$. By applying (2.18) we obtain that $\sigma(x) - \sigma_{\mu}(x)$ is orthogonal to $E_{\mu}(x)$ for μ -a.e. $x \in \Omega$. Together with (a), this gives (ii).

Take now $u \in W^{1,1}(\Omega)$. By Proposition 1.3(iv) and by (2.17), for every $\sigma \in X(\Omega)$ and for every $B \in \mathcal{B}(\Omega)$ we have

$$\int_{B} \sigma \nabla u dx = \int_{B} (\sigma \cdot Du) = \int_{B} \sigma_{\mu} \nabla_{\mu} u d\mu = \int_{B} \sigma_{\mu} \nabla u dx.$$

Thus, using localization again, we get $(\sigma - \sigma_{\mu})\nabla u = 0 \mathcal{L}^{N}$ -a.e. in Ω for every $u \in W^{1,1}(\Omega)$. Taking u affine, we finally obtain $\sigma = \sigma_{\mu} \mathcal{L}^{N}$ -a.e. in Ω , that is (iii).

By Proposition 1.3(iii) we have $(\varphi \sigma)_{\mu} \nabla_{\mu} u = \varphi \sigma_{\mu} \nabla_{\mu} u$ μ -a.e. in $\Omega \setminus A$ for every $u \in BV(\Omega)$. As in the case of (2.18), this implies that $(\varphi \sigma)_{\mu}(x) - \varphi(x)\sigma_{\mu}(x)$ is orthogonal to $E_{\mu}(x)$ for μ -a.e. $x \in \Omega$. Together with (a), this gives (iv).

If $A \in A_c(\Omega)$ and $\sigma = 0$ \mathcal{L}^N -a.e. on $\Omega \setminus A$, then $(\sigma \cdot Du) = 0$ on $\Omega \setminus A$ by Lemma 1.7. This implies $\sigma_\mu \nabla_\mu u = 0$ μ -a.e. in $\Omega \setminus A$ for every $u \in BV(\Omega)$. Choosing a countable subset D of $BV(\Omega)$ such that the set $\{\nabla_\mu u(x) : u \in D\}$ is dense in $E_\mu(x)$ for μ -a.e. $x \in \Omega \setminus A$, we obtain that $\sigma_\mu(x)$ is orthogonal to $E_\mu(x)$ for μ -a.e. $x \in \Omega \setminus A$. Together with (a), this gives (v).

Let us prove, finally, that the lifting operator $\sigma \mapsto \sigma_{\mu}$ is sequentially continuous. Consider a sequence (σ^n) converging weakly^{*} to σ in $X(\Omega)$. Then (σ^n) is bounded in $L^{\infty}(\Omega, \mathbb{R}^N)$ and, by (i), (σ^n_{μ}) is bounded in $L^{\infty}_{\mu}(\Omega, \mathbb{R}^N)$. Passing, if necessary, to a subsequence, we can suppose that (σ^n_{μ}) converges to some function $\psi \in L^{\infty}_{\mu}(\Omega, \mathbb{R}^N)$ in the weak^{*} topology of $L^{\infty}_{\mu}(\Omega, \mathbb{R}^N)$. Now we have to prove that $\psi = \sigma_{\mu} \mu$ -a.e. in Ω . First, we observe that, by condition (a), we have

$$0 = \int_{\Omega} [\psi - p_x(\psi)] \sigma_{\mu}^n d\mu \rightarrow \int_{\Omega} [\psi - p_x(\psi)] \psi d\mu = \int_{\Omega} [\psi - p_x(\psi)]^2 d\mu,$$

hence $\psi(x) \in E_{\mu}(x)$ for μ -a.e. $x \in \Omega$. Thanks to Proposition 1.3(ii), we have

(2.19)
$$\int_{B} (\sigma^{n} \cdot Du) \to \int_{B} (\sigma \cdot Du) \quad \forall u \in BV(\Omega), \ \forall B \in \mathcal{B}(\Omega).$$

If $B \in \mathcal{B}(\Omega)$ is such that $\int_{B} |D^{s}_{\mu}u| = 0$, by Proposition 1.3(i) we have also

(2.20)
$$\int_{B} (\sigma^{n} \cdot Du) = \int_{B} \sigma^{n}_{\mu} \nabla_{\mu} u d\mu, \qquad \int_{B} (\sigma \cdot Du) = \int_{B} \sigma_{\mu} \nabla_{\mu} u d\mu,$$

hence

(2.21)
$$\int_{B} (\sigma^{n} \cdot Du) \to \int_{B} \psi \nabla_{\mu} u d\mu.$$

As the limits in (2.19) and (2.21) are equal, by (2.20) and by localization we obtain $\sigma_{\mu}\nabla_{\mu}u = \psi\nabla_{\mu}u$ μ -a.e. in Ω . Since this is true for any $u \in BV(\Omega)$, one deduces as before that $\psi(x) - \sigma_{\mu}(x)$ is orthogonal to $E_{\mu}(x)$ for μ -a.e. $x \in \Omega$. Since both $\psi(x)$ and $\sigma_{\mu}(x)$ belong to $E_{\mu}(x)$ for μ -a.e. $x \in \Omega$, this gives $\sigma_{\mu} = \psi$ μ -a.e. in Ω .

We are now in a position to prove that the multifunction E_{μ} , introduced in (2.2), is the smallest closed-valued μ -measurable multifunction such that $\nabla_{\mu}u(x) \in E_{\mu}(x)$ for μ -a.e. $x \in \Omega$ and for every $u \in W^{1,1}_{\mu}(\Omega)$, where $W^{1,1}_{\mu}(\Omega)$ is the space defined by (2.1).

PROPOSITION 2.5. Let $\mu \in \mathcal{M}^b_+(\Omega)$, with $\mathcal{L}^N \ll \mu$. Then: $E_{\mu}(x) = \mu$ -ess sup $\{\nabla_{\mu} u(x)\}$. $u \in \mathcal{W}^{1,1}_{\mu}(\Omega)$

PROOF. Let us consider the closed-valued multifunction $E'_{\mu} : \Omega \to \mathbb{R}^N$ defined (see (1.1)) by

$$E'_{\mu}(x) = \mu \operatorname{-} \operatorname{ess\,sup}_{u \in W^{1,1}_{\mu}(\Omega)} \{ \nabla_{\mu} u(x) \}.$$

We want to prove that $E'_{\mu}(x) = E_{\mu}(x)$ for μ -a.e. $x \in \Omega$. Recall that, by definition, E'_{μ} is the smallest closed-valued μ -measurable multifunction such that $\nabla_{\mu}u(x) \in E'_{\mu}(x)$ for μ -a.e. $x \in \Omega$ for every $u \in W^{1,1}_{\mu}(\Omega)$. As in the case of E_{μ} , we can prove that $E'_{\mu}(x)$ is a linear subspace of \mathbb{R}^{N} for μ -a.e. $x \in \Omega$, and that $E'_{\mu}(x) = \mathbb{R}^{N}$ for \mathcal{L}^{N} -a.e. $x \in \Omega$.

As $W^{1,1}_{\mu}(\Omega) \subseteq BV(\Omega)$, we have $E'_{\mu}(x) \subseteq E_{\mu}(x)$ for μ -a.e. $x \in \Omega$, thus we have only to prove that $E_{\mu}(x) \subseteq E'_{\mu}(x)$ for μ -a.e. $x \in \Omega$. By the Projection Theorem (see [14], Theorem III.23) the set $M = \{x \in \Omega : E_{\mu}(x) \setminus E'_{\mu}(x) \neq \emptyset\}$ is μ -measurable. Our aim is to prove that $\mu(M) = 0$.

By the Measurable Selection Theorem (see [14], Theorem III.22) there exists a μ -measurable function $\psi : \Omega \to \mathbb{R}^N$ such that $\psi(x) \in E_{\mu}(x)$ for μ -a.e. $x \in \Omega$ and $\psi(x) \in E_{\mu}(x) \setminus E'_{\mu}(x)$ for μ -a.e. $x \in M$. Replacing, if necessary, ψ by $\psi/|\psi|$, we may assume that $\psi \in L^{\infty}_{\mu}(\Omega, \mathbb{R}^N)$.

Let p_x and p'_x be the orthogonal projections on $E_{\mu}(x)$ and $E'_{\mu}(x)$ respectively. We want to prove that $p'_x(\psi(x)) = \psi(x)$ for μ -a.e. $x \in \Omega$, which

implies that $\psi(x) \in E'_{\mu}(x)$ for μ -a.e. $x \in \Omega$, hence $\mu(M) = 0$. To prove this fact, it is enough to show that the function $p'_x(\psi) - \psi$ belongs to the linear subspace $\mathcal{F} = \{\sigma_{\mu} : \sigma \in X(\Omega), \text{ div } \sigma = 0\}$ of $L^{\infty}_{\mu}(\Omega, \mathbb{R}^N)$. Indeed, if $p'_x(\psi) - \psi \in \mathcal{F}$, then there exists $\sigma \in X(\Omega)$ such that $p'_x(\psi(x)) = \psi(x) + \sigma_{\mu}(x)$ for μ -a.e. $x \in \Omega$. Since p'_x is the identity for \mathcal{L}^N -a.e. $x \in \Omega$, by Proposition 2.4(iii) we have $\psi = p'_x(\psi) = \psi + \sigma_{\mu} = \psi + \sigma \mathcal{L}^N$ -a.e. in Ω , hence $\sigma = 0 \mathcal{L}^N$ -a.e. in Ω , which implies $\sigma_{\mu} = 0 \mu$ -a.e. in Ω (Proposition 2.4(i)). Therefore $p'_x(\psi(x)) = \psi(x) + \sigma_{\mu}(x) = \psi(x)$ for μ -a.e. $x \in \Omega$.

In order to prove that $p'_x(\psi) - \psi \in \mathcal{F}$, we first show that \mathcal{F} is closed in the weak* topology of $L^{\infty}_{\mu}(\Omega, \mathbb{R}^N)$. By the Krein-Šmulian theorem (see [19], Theorem V.5.7) it is enough to show that the intersection of \mathcal{F} with every closed ball in $L^{\infty}_{\mu}(\Omega, \mathbb{R}^N)$ is weakly*-closed. Since the weak* topology is metrizable on any closed ball of $L^{\infty}_{\mu}(\Omega, \mathbb{R}^N)$, it is enough to prove that \mathcal{F} is sequentially weakly*-closed. Let (σ^n) be a sequence in \mathcal{F} such that (σ^n_{μ}) converges to some function σ in the weak* topology of $L^{\infty}_{\mu}(\Omega, \mathbb{R}^N)$. As $\mathcal{L}^N \ll \mu$, the sequence (σ^n) converges to σ also in the weak* topology of $L^{\infty}(\Omega, \mathbb{R}^N)$. Since div $\sigma^n = 0$ for every $n \in \mathbb{N}$, we have div $\sigma = 0$, hence $\sigma \in X(\Omega)$ and (σ^n) converges to σ weakly* in $X(\Omega)$. By the continuity of the lifting operator $\sigma \mapsto \sigma_{\mu}$ (Proposition 2.4), the sequence (σ^n_{μ}) converges to σ_{μ} in the weak* topology of $L^{\infty}_{\mu}(\Omega, \mathbb{R}^N)$. This gives $\sigma = \sigma_{\mu} \ \mu$ -a.e. in Ω , hence $\sigma \in \mathcal{F}$, and proves that \mathcal{F} is closed in the weak* topology of $L^{\infty}_{\mu}(\Omega, \mathbb{R}^N)$.

Suppose now, by contradiction, that $p'_x(\psi) - \psi \notin \mathcal{F}$. Then, by the Hahn-Banach Theorem, there exists $v \in L^1_\mu(\Omega, \mathbb{R}^N)$ such that

(2.22)
$$\int_{\Omega} p'_{x}(\psi)vd\mu \neq \int_{\Omega} \psi vd\mu$$

and $\int_{\Omega} \sigma_{\mu} v d\mu = 0$ for every $\sigma \in X(\Omega)$ with div $\sigma = 0$. In particular, if $\sigma \in C_{c}^{1}(\Omega, \mathbb{R}^{N})$ and div $\sigma = 0$, we have $\sigma \in X(\Omega)$ and $\sigma_{\mu}(x) = p_{x}(\sigma(x))$ for μ -a.e. $x \in \Omega$ (Proposition 2.4(ii)), hence

$$\int_{\Omega} \sigma p_x(v) d\mu = \int_{\Omega} p_x(\sigma) v d\mu = \int_{\Omega} v d\mu = 0.$$

This implies, by Proposition 1.1, that there exists $u \in W^{1,1}_{\mu}(\Omega)$ such that $\nabla_{\mu}u(x) = p_x(v(x))$ for μ -a.e. $x \in \Omega$. Since $\nabla_{\mu}u(x) \in E'_{\mu}(x)$, we have $p_x(v(x)) \in E'_{\mu}(x)$ for μ -a.e. $x \in \Omega$. Being $E'_{\mu}(x) \subseteq E_{\mu}(x)$, we conclude that $p'_x(v(x)) = p_x(v(x))$ for μ -a.e. $x \in \Omega$. As $\psi(x) \in E_{\mu}(x)$, we have $p_x(\psi(x)) = \psi(x)$ for μ -a.e. $x \in \Omega$, hence

$$\int_{\Omega} p'_x(\psi)vd\mu = \int_{\Omega} \psi p'_x(v)d\mu = \int_{\Omega} \psi p_x(v)d\mu = \int_{\Omega} \psi vd\mu,$$

503

which contradicts (2.22). This shows that $p'_x(\psi) - \psi \in \mathcal{F}$ and proves that $p'_x(\psi(x)) = \psi(x)$ for μ -a.e. $x \in \Omega$, and hence $\mu(M) = 0$. Therefore $E_{\mu}(x) \subseteq E'_{\mu}(x)$ for μ -a.e. $x \in \Omega$, and the proposition is proved.

The following proposition makes precise the link between $\sigma_{\mu}(x)$ and the function $q_{\sigma}(x, z)$ introduced in Definition 1.4.

PROPOSITION 2.6. Let $\mu \in M^b_+(\Omega)$, with $\mathcal{L}^N \ll \mu$. Then the following properties hold:

(i) for every $\sigma \in X(\Omega)$ and for μ -a.e. $x \in \Omega$

$$q_{\sigma}(x,z) = \sigma_{\mu}(x)z \qquad \forall z \in E_{\mu}(x);$$

(ii) if $h_1, h_2: \Omega \times \mathbb{R}^N \to]-\infty, +\infty]$ are homogeneous integrands such that $h_1 \sim h_2$ on some Borel subset B of Ω , then

$$h_1(x,z) = h_2(x,z) \qquad \forall z \in E_\mu(x)$$

for μ -a.e. $x \in B$.

PROOF. Let $\sigma \in X(\Omega)$. As $\nu_u |\nabla_{\mu} u| = \nabla_{\mu} u \mu$ -a.e. in Ω , by Proposition 1.6 and 2.4(b) we have

$$\int_{B} q_{\sigma}(x, \nabla_{\mu} u) d\mu = \int_{B} (\sigma \cdot Du) = \int_{B} \sigma_{\mu} \nabla_{\mu} u d\mu$$

for every $u \in BV(\Omega)$ and for every $B \in \mathcal{B}(\Omega)$ with $\int_{B} |D_{\mu}^{s}u| = 0$. Therefore $q_{\sigma}(x, \nabla_{\mu}u) = \sigma_{\mu}\nabla_{\mu}u \ \mu$ -a.e. in Ω . Let M be the set of all points $x \in \Omega$ such that there exists $z \in E_{\mu}(x)$ with $q_{\sigma}(x, z) \neq \sigma_{\mu}(x)z$. By the Projection Theorem (see [14], Theorem III.23), the set M is μ -measurable. By the Measurable Selection Theorem (see [14], Theorem III.22) there exists a μ -measurable function $\psi : \Omega \to \mathbb{R}^N$ such that $\psi(x) \in E_{\mu}(x)$ for μ -a.e. $x \in M$ and $q_{\sigma}(x, \psi(x)) \neq \sigma_{\mu}(x)\psi(x)$ for μ -a.e. $x \in M$. Replacing, if necessary, ψ by $\psi/|\psi|$, we may assume that $\psi \in L^{\infty}_{\mu}(\Omega, \mathbb{R}^N)$. By Theorem 2.2 there exists $u \in BV(\Omega)$ such that $\nabla_{\mu}u = \psi$ μ -a.e. in Ω . This implies that $q_{\sigma}(x, \nabla_{\mu}u) \neq \sigma_{\mu}\nabla_{\mu}u$ μ -a.e. in M. As $q_{\sigma}(x, \nabla_{\mu}u) = \sigma_{\mu}\nabla_{\mu}u$ μ -a.e. in Ω , we conclude that $\mu(M) = 0$, which proves (i).

To prove (ii), we observe that, under our hypotheses on h_1 and h_2 , we have

$$\int_{B'} h_1(x, \nabla_\mu u) d\mu = \int_{B'} h_2(x, \nabla_\mu u) d\mu$$

for every $u \in BV(\Omega)$ and for every $B' \in \mathcal{B}(\Omega)$ with $B' \subseteq B$ and $\int_{B'} |D^s_{\mu}u| = 0$; hence $h_1(x, \nabla_{\mu}u) = h_2(x, \nabla_{\mu}u) \mu$ -a.e. in B. The conclusion follows now, as in

the previous case, using the Measurable Selection Theorem and Theorem 2.2. $\hfill \Box$

Let K be a subset of $X(\Omega)$ and let h_K be the homogeneous integrand associated with K (Proposition 1.8). According to (1.1), we can consider the closed-valued μ -measurable multifunction $\Gamma^{\mu}: \Omega \to \mathbb{R}^N$ defined by

$$\Gamma^{\mu}(x) = \mu \operatorname{-} \operatorname{ess\,sup}_{\sigma \in K} \big\{ \sigma_{\mu}(x) \big\},$$

and its support function $h_{\mu}: \Omega \times \mathbb{R}^N \to]-\infty, +\infty]$ defined by

(2.23)
$$h_{\mu}(x,z) = \sup\{zz^* : z^* \in \Gamma^{\mu}(x)\}$$

The following proposition shows the connection between h_K and h_{μ} .

PROPOSITION 2.7. Let $\mu \in \mathcal{M}^b_+(\Omega)$, with $\mathcal{L}^N \ll \mu$, let K be a subset of $X(\Omega)$, let h_K be the homogeneous integrand associated with K according to Proposition 1.8, and let h_μ be the homogeneous integrand defined in (2.23). Then for μ -a.e. $x \in \Omega$ we have

$$h_{\mu}(x,z) = h_K(x,p_x(z)) \qquad \forall z \in \mathbb{R}^N,$$

where p_x denotes the orthogonal projection on $E_{\mu}(x)$.

PROOF. Let us fix a countable subset D of K such that D is sequentially dense in K for the weak^{*} topology of $X(\Omega)$ and $\{\sigma_x : \sigma \in D\}$ is dense in $\{\sigma_\mu : \sigma \in K\}$ for the strong topology of $L^1_{\mu}(\Omega, \mathbb{R}^N)$. Let us define

$$h_D(x,z) = \sup_{\sigma \in D} q_\sigma(x,z) \qquad orall x \in \Omega, \,\, orall z \in \mathbb{R}^N.$$

By Proposition 1.8 we have $h_D \sim h_K$. Therefore, by Proposition 2.6, for μ -a.e. $x \in \Omega$ we obtain

(2.24)
$$h_K(x, p_x(z)) = h_D(x, p_x(z)) = \sup_{\sigma \in D} q_\sigma(x, p_x(z)) \quad \forall z \in \mathbb{R}^N.$$

By the definition of Γ^{μ} we have $\Gamma^{\mu}(x) = cl\{\sigma_{\mu}(x) : \sigma \in D\}$ for μ -a.e. $x \in \Omega$, hence

(2.25)
$$h_{\mu}(x,z) = \sup_{\sigma \in D} \sigma_{\mu}(x)z \quad \forall z \in \mathbb{R}^{N}$$

for μ -a.e. $x \in \Omega$. Recalling that $\sigma_{\mu}(x) \in E_{\mu}(x)$, we deduce from Proposition 2.6 that

(2.26)
$$\sigma_{\mu}(x)z = \sigma_{\mu}(x)p_{x}(z) = q_{\sigma}(x, p_{x}(z)) \qquad \forall z \in \mathbb{R}^{N}, \ \forall \sigma \in D$$

for μ -a.e. $x \in \Omega$. The conclusion follows now from (2.24), (2.25), (2.26).

2.3. - Integral representation on $W^{1,1}_{\mu}(\Omega)$

We prove now a representation theorem for the functional F on the space $W^{1,1}_{\mu}(\Omega)$ introduced in (2.1).

THEOREM 2.8. Let α , $\mu \in M^b_+(\Omega)$, with $\alpha + \mathcal{L}^N \ll \mu$, and let F: BV(Ω) × B(Ω) \rightarrow [0, + ∞ [be a functional satisfying the hypotheses (H1), (H2) and (H3) considered in the introduction. Then there exists a Borel integrand $j: \Omega \times \mathbb{R}^N \rightarrow [0, +\infty]$ such that

- (i) $j(x, \cdot)$ is convex on \mathbb{R}^N for μ -a.e. $x \in \Omega$;
- (ii) for μ -a.e. $x \in \Omega$ and for every $z \in \mathbb{R}^N$ we have $j(x, z) = j(x, p_x(z))$, where p_x denotes the orthogonal projection on the linear space $E_{\mu}(x)$ defined in (2.2);
- (iii) for every $u \in W^{1,1}_{\mu}(\Omega)$ and for every $B \in \mathcal{B}(\Omega)$ we have

$$F(u,B) = \int_{B} j(x,\nabla_{\mu}u)d\mu;$$

(iv) for μ -a.e. $x \in \Omega$ and for every $z \in \mathbb{R}^N$ we have $0 \le j(x, z) \le \frac{d\alpha}{d\mu}(x) + \gamma |z|$.

If $j': \Omega \times \mathbb{R}^N \to [0, +\infty[$ is another $\mathcal{B}_{\mu}(\Omega) \times \mathcal{B}(\mathbb{R}^N)$ -measurable integrand satisfying (i), (ii) and (iii), then $j(x, \cdot) = j'(x, \cdot)$ on \mathbb{R}^N for μ -a.e. $x \in \Omega$.

PROOF. For every $A \in \mathcal{A}(\Omega)$ let us consider the recession function of $F(\cdot, A)$ defined by

(2.27)
$$F_{\infty}(u,A) = \lim_{t \to +\infty} \frac{F(tu,A)}{t}$$

(existence of the limit follows from the convexity assumption (H2)). It is well-known (see [27], Theorem 8.5) that

(2.28)
$$F_{\infty}(u, A) = \sup_{v \in BV(\Omega)} [F(v + u, A) - F(v, A)],$$

hence $F(u, A) \leq F(v, A) + F_{\infty}(u - v, A)$ for every $u, v \in BV(\Omega)$. But, by (H3), we obtain $0 \leq F_{\infty}(u - v, A) \leq \gamma \int |Du - Dv|$. Thus, interchanging u and v and extending the inequalities to all Borel sets thanks to (H1), we can write

$$(2.29) |F(u,B) - F(v,B)| \leq \gamma \int_{B} |Du - Dv| \qquad \forall u, v \in BV(\Omega), \forall B \in \mathcal{B}(\Omega).$$

Let us consider the functional $G : BV(\Omega) \times \mathcal{B}(\Omega) \to \mathbb{R}$ defined by G(u, B) = F(u, B) - F(0, B). Since G satisfies the hypotheses of Theorem 2.3, there exists a Borel integrand $g : \Omega \times \mathbb{R}^N \to \mathbb{R}$ such that for μ -a.e. $x \in \Omega$

$$(2.30) g(x,0) = 0,$$

(2.31)
$$|g(x,z_1)-g(x,z_2)| \leq \gamma |p_x(z_1)-p_x(z_2)| \quad \forall z_1, \ z_2 \in \mathbb{R}^N,$$

(2.32)
$$G_a(u,B) = \int_B g(x, \nabla_\mu u) d\mu \qquad \forall u \in BV(\Omega), \ \forall B \in \mathcal{B}(\Omega),$$

where $G_a(u, \cdot)$ is the absolutely continuous part of the measure $G(u, \cdot)$ with respect to μ . Since $G(\cdot A)$ is convex on $BV(\Omega)$ for every $A \in \mathcal{A}(\Omega)$, the function $g(x, \cdot)$ is convex on \mathbb{R}^N for μ -a.e. $x \in \Omega$.

From (2.29), by taking v = 0, one deduces that $|G(u, B)| \le \gamma \int_{B} |Du|$, hence $G(u, \cdot) = G_a(u, \cdot)$ on $\mathcal{B}(\Omega)$ as soon as u belongs to $W^{1,1}_{\mu}(\Omega)$. So, according to (2.32), we can write

(2.33)
$$F(u,B) = \int_{B} g(x, \nabla_{\mu} u) d\mu + F(0,B) \qquad \forall u \in W^{1,1}_{\mu}(\Omega), \ \forall B \in \mathcal{B}(\Omega).$$

From (H3) it turns out that the measure $F(0, \cdot)$ is absolutely continuous with respect to α ; therefore there exists a functions $a \in L^1_{\mu}(\Omega)$, with $0 \le a(x) \le \frac{d\alpha}{d\mu}(x)$ for μ -a.e. $x \in \Omega$, such that

(2.34)
$$F(0,B) = \int_{B} a d\mu \qquad \forall B \in \mathcal{B}(\Omega).$$

Define $j: \Omega \times \mathbb{R}^N \to \mathbb{R}$ by j(x, z) = g(x, z) + a(x). Then (iii) is a consequence of (2.33) and (2.34). The convexity of $j(x, \cdot)$ follows from the convexity of $g(x, \cdot)$. Property (ii) is a consequence of (2.31) and (iv) follows from (2.30), (2.31) and from the inequality $a \leq \frac{d\alpha}{d\mu} \mu$ -a.e. in Ω .

The uniqueness of j can be proved as in Theorem 2.3, using now Proposition 2.5.

3. - Representation of the conjugate functional

In this section we prove a representation formula for the conjugate of an integral functional defined on the space $W^{1,1}_{\mu}(\Omega)$ introduced in Section 2. Let $\mu \in \mathcal{M}^b_+(\Omega)$, with $\mathcal{L}^N \ll \mu$, and let $j : \Omega \times \mathbb{R}^N \to [0, +\infty[$ be a Borel function such that:

- (J1) for μ -a.e. $x \in \Omega$ the function $j(x, \cdot)$ is convex on \mathbb{R}^N ;
- (J2) for μ -a.e. $x \in \Omega$ and for every $z \in \mathbb{R}^N$ we have $j(x, z) = j(x, p_x(z))$, where p_x denotes the orthogonal projection on the linear space $E_{\mu}(x)$ defined in (2.2);
- (J3) there exist $\gamma \in \mathbb{R}$ and $a \in L^1_{\mu}(\Omega)$ such that $0 \leq j(x, z) \leq a(x) + \gamma |z|$ for μ -a.e. $x \in \Omega$ and for every $z \in \mathbb{R}^N$.

Note that, if μ is the Lebesgue measure, then condition (J2) is always satisfied by (2.4).

We define the functional $J_{\mu}: BV(\Omega) \times \mathcal{B}(\Omega) \to [0, +\infty]$ by

(3.1)
$$J_{\mu}(u,B) = \begin{cases} \int j(x,\nabla_{\mu}u)d\mu & \text{if } u \in W^{1,1}_{\mu}(\Omega), \\ B & \\ +\infty & \text{otherwise,} \end{cases}$$

and the conjugate functional $J^*_{\mu}: L^N(\Omega) \times \mathcal{A}(\Omega) \to]-\infty, +\infty]$ by

(3.2)
$$J^*_{\mu}(f,A) = \sup\left\{\int_{\Omega} fudx - J_{\mu}(u,A) : u \in BV(\Omega) \cap L^{N/N-1}(\Omega)\right\}.$$

Note that, since $\nabla_{\mu}u(x) \in E_{\mu}(x)$ for μ -a.e. $x \in \Omega$, the functional J_{μ} depends only on the values of $j(x, \cdot)$ on $E_{\mu}(x)$. For this reason, the definition of j(x, z)for $z \notin E_{\mu}(x)$ is irrelevant. Our convention (J2) simplifies the statements of Proposition 3.1 and of Theorem 4.4.

For every $A \in \mathcal{A}(\Omega)$ let $j_A : \Omega \times \mathbb{R}^N \to [0, +\infty[$ be the functional defined by

(3.3)
$$j_A(x,z) = \begin{cases} j(x,z) & \text{if } x \in A, \\ 0 & \text{if } x \in \Omega \setminus A, \end{cases}$$

and let $j_A^*(x, z^*)$ be the conjugate function of $j_A(x, z)$ with respect to z. An easy computation shows that

(3.4)
$$j_A^*(x, z^*) = \begin{cases} j^*(x, z^*) & \text{if } x \in A \text{ and } z^* \in \mathbb{R}^N, \\ 0 & \text{if } x \in \Omega \setminus A \text{ and } z^* = 0, \\ +\infty & \text{if } x \in \Omega \setminus A \text{ and } z^* \neq 0, \end{cases}$$

where $j^*(x, z^*)$ is the conjugate function of j(x, z) with respect to z. Since $j(x, z) = j(x, p_x(z))$ for μ -a.e. $x \in \Omega$ and for every $z \in \mathbb{R}^N$, we have $j^*_A(x, z^*) = j^*(x, z^*) = +\infty$ for μ -a.e. $x \in \Omega$ and for every $z^* \notin E_{\mu}(x)$.

Our aim in this section is to prove the following proposition, which will be used in the representation theorem of Section 4.

PROPOSITION 3.1. Let $\mu \in M^b_+(\Omega)$, with $\mathcal{L}^N \ll \mu$, and let $j : \Omega \times \mathbb{R}^N \to [0, +\infty[$ be a Borel function satisfying hypotheses (J1), (J2) and (J3). Then for every $f \in L^N(\Omega)$ and for every $A \in \mathcal{A}_c(\Omega)$ we have

$$J^*_{\mu}(f,A) = \min_{\sigma \in K_{f,A}} \int_{\Omega} j^*_A(x,\sigma_{\mu}) d\mu,$$

where $K_{f,A} = \{ \sigma \in L^{\infty}(\Omega, \mathbb{R}^N) : -\operatorname{div} \sigma = f \text{ in } \Omega, \sigma = 0 \ \mathcal{L}^N \text{-a.e. in } \Omega \setminus A \}$ and σ_{μ} is given by Proposition 2.4. As usual, we make the convention $\min \emptyset = +\infty$.

PROOF. let $\Lambda : D(\Lambda) \subseteq L^{N/N-1}(\Omega) \to L^1_{\mu}(\Omega, \mathbb{R}^N)$ be the unbounded closed linear operator defined by

$$(3.5) \quad D(\Lambda) = W^{1,1}_{\mu}(\Omega) \cap L^{N/N-1}(\Omega), \qquad \Lambda u = \nabla_{\mu} u \ \forall u \in W^{1,1}_{\mu}(\Omega) \cap L^{N/N-1}(\Omega),$$

and let $\Lambda^* : L^{\infty}_{\mu}(\Omega, \mathbb{R}^N) \supseteq D(\Lambda^*) \to L^N(\Omega)$ be the adjoint operator. It follows immediately from the definition that for every $(q, f) \in L^{\infty}_{\mu}(\Omega, \mathbb{R}^N) \times L^N(\Omega)$ we have

(3.6)
$$\Lambda^* q = f \Leftrightarrow \int_{\Omega} q \nabla_{\mu} u d\mu = \int_{\Omega} f u dx \qquad \forall u \in W^{1,1}_{\mu}(\Omega) \cap L^{N/N-1}(\Omega).$$

Note that every regular function $\varphi \in C_c^1(\Omega, \mathbb{R}^N)$ belongs to $D(\Lambda^*)$ and satisfies $\Lambda^* \varphi = -\operatorname{div} \varphi$. Note also that the range $R(\Lambda)$ of Λ is closed in $L^1_{\mu}(\Omega, \mathbb{R}^N)$ by Proposition 1.1.

For every $A \in \mathcal{A}(\Omega)$ let $J_A : L^1_\mu(\Omega, \mathbb{R}^N) \to [0, +\infty[$ be the convex function defined by

$$J_A(v) = \int_{\Omega} j_A(x,v) d\mu.$$

Let $G_A: L^{N/(N-1)}(\Omega) \to [0, +\infty]$ be the convex function defined by

$$G_A(u) = \begin{cases} J_A(\Lambda u) = J_\mu(u, A) & \text{if } u \in D(\Lambda), \\ +_\infty & \text{otherwise.} \end{cases}$$

Finally, let $J_A^* : L_\mu^\infty(\Omega, \mathbb{R}^N) \to] - \infty, +\infty]$ and $G_A^* : L^N(\Omega) \to] - \infty, +\infty]$ be the conjugate functions of J_A and G_A respectively. As $J_\mu^*(f, A) = G_A^*(f)$ (see (3.2)), by a classical theorem of Convex Analysis (see [29], Theorem 19) we have

$$J^*_{\mu}(f,A) = G^*_A(f) = \min\{J^*_A(q) : q \in D(\Lambda^*), \Lambda^*q = f\} \qquad \forall f \in L^N(\Omega),$$

with the convention that the min $\emptyset = +\infty$. By the Rockafellar Conjugation Theorem (see [28]), we have

$$J^*_A(q) = \int\limits_\Omega j^*_A(x,q) d\mu \qquad orall q \in L^\infty_\mu(\Omega,\mathbb{R}^N),$$

509

hence

(3.7)
$$J^*_{\mu}(f,A) = \min\left\{\int_{\Omega} j^*_A(x,q)d\mu : q \in D(\Lambda^*), \Lambda^*q = f\right\} \quad \forall f \in L^N(\Omega).$$

Let us consider the set $H_{f,A}$ of all functions $q \in D(\Lambda^*)$, with $\Lambda^*q = f$, such that q(x) = 0 for μ -a.e. $x \in \Omega \setminus A$, and $q(x) \in E_{\mu}(x)$ for μ -a.e. $x \in \Omega$. Recalling that $j_A^*(x, z^*) = +\infty$ for $z^* \neq 0$ for μ -a.e. $x \in \Omega \setminus A$, and that $j_A^*(x, z^*) = +\infty$ for $z^* \notin E_{\mu}(x)$ for μ -a.e. $x \in \Omega$, from (3.7) it follows that

$$J^*_\mu(f,A) = \min_{q\in H_{f,A}} \int\limits_\Omega j^*_A(x,q) d\mu \qquad orall f\in L^N(\Omega).$$

The conclusion is now a consequence of the following lemma, which explains the link between the set $H_{f,A}$ and the set $K_{f,A}$ considered in the statement of the proposition.

LEMMA 3.2. Let Λ be the operator defined by (3.5) and let Λ^* be the adjoint operator. Given $f \in L^N(\Omega)$ and $A \in \mathcal{A}(\Omega)$, let $K_{f,A}$ and $H_{f,A}$ be the sets defined in the statement and in the proof of Proposition 3.1 respectively. If $A \in \mathcal{A}_c(\Omega)$, then $H_{f,A} = \{\sigma_\mu : \sigma \in K_{f,A}\}$.

PROOF. Let us fix $f \in L^{N}(\Omega)$ and $A \in \mathcal{A}_{c}(\Omega)$. If $\sigma \in K_{f,A}$, then by Proposition 2.4(v) we have $\sigma_{\mu}(x) = 0$ for μ -a.e. $x \in \Omega \setminus A$, and by Proposition 2.4(a) we have $\sigma_{\mu}(x) \in E_{\mu}(x)$ for μ -a.e. $x \in \Omega$. To prove that $\sigma_{\mu} \in H_{f,A}$, it remains to show that $\sigma_{\mu} \in D(\Lambda^{*})$ and $\Lambda^{*}\sigma_{\mu} = f$. For every $u \in W_{\mu}^{1,1}(\Omega)$ the measure $(\sigma \cdot Du)$ is absolutely continuous with respect to μ (Proposition 1.3(i)), hence $\int_{\Omega}^{\Omega} \sigma_{\mu} \nabla_{\mu} u d\mu = \int_{\Omega}^{\Omega} (\sigma \cdot Du)$ (Proposition 2.4(b)). By Lemma 1.7 the measure

 $(\sigma \cdot Du)$ is identically zero on $\Omega \setminus A$. Let $\varphi \in C_c^1(\Omega)$ with $\varphi = 1$ on A. Being $\sigma \nabla \varphi = 0$ and $\varphi \operatorname{div} \sigma = \operatorname{div} \sigma \mathcal{L}^N$ -a.e. in Ω , from (1.6) it follows that

(3.8)
$$\int_{\Omega} \sigma_{\mu} \nabla_{\mu} u d\mu = \int_{\Omega} (\sigma \cdot Du) = \int_{\Omega} \varphi(\sigma \cdot Du) = -\int_{\Omega} u \varphi \operatorname{div} \sigma dx = -\int_{\Omega} u \operatorname{div} \sigma dx.$$

By (3.6) this implies that $\sigma_{\mu} \in D(\Lambda^*)$ and $\Lambda^* \sigma_{\mu} = -\operatorname{div} \sigma = f$. Therefore $\sigma_{\mu} \in H_{f,A}$ whenever $\sigma \in K_{f,A}$.

Conversely, let $q \in H_{f,A}$ and let $\sigma = q \ \mathcal{L}^N$ -a.e. in Ω . Then $\sigma \in L^{\infty}(\Omega, \mathbb{R}^N)$ and $\sigma = 0 \ \mathcal{L}^N$ -a.e. in $\Omega \setminus A$. By (3.6) for every $\varphi \in C^1(\overline{\Omega})$ we have

$$\int_{\Omega} \sigma \nabla \varphi dx = \int_{\Omega} q \nabla_{\mu} \varphi d\mu = \int_{\Omega} f \varphi dx,$$

hence $-\operatorname{div} \sigma = f$ in Ω . Together with the previous remarks, this shows that $\sigma \in K_{f,A}$. In order to prove that $q = \sigma_{\mu} \mu$ -a.e. in Ω , it is enough to show that the function $q - \sigma_{\mu}$ belongs to the linear subspace $\mathcal{F} = \{\psi_{\mu} : \psi \in X(\Omega), \operatorname{div} \psi = 0\}$ of $L^{\infty}_{\mu}(\Omega, \mathbb{R}^N)$. Indeed, if $q - \sigma_{\mu} \in \mathcal{F}$, then there exists $\psi \in X(\Omega)$ such that $q = \sigma_{\mu} + \psi_{\mu} \mu$ -a.e. in Ω . Since $\psi_{\mu} = \psi \mathcal{L}^N$ -a.e. in Ω (Proposition 2.4(ii)) and $\mathcal{L}^N \ll \mu$, we have $\sigma = q = \sigma_{\mu} + \psi_{\mu} = \sigma + \psi \mathcal{L}^N$ -a.e. in Ω , hence $\psi = 0 \mathcal{L}^N$ -a.e. in Ω , which implies $\psi_{\mu} = 0 \mu$ -a.e. in Ω (Proposition 2.4(i)). Therefore $q = \sigma_{\mu} + \psi_{\mu} = \sigma_{\mu} \mu$ -a.e. in Ω .

Suppose now, by contradiction, that $q - \sigma_{\mu} \notin \mathcal{F}$. Since \mathcal{F} is closed in the weak* topology of $L^{\infty}_{\mu}(\Omega, \mathbb{R}^{N})$ (see the proof of Proposition 2.5), by the Hahn-Banach Theorem there exists $v \in L^{1}_{\mu}(\Omega, \mathbb{R}^{N})$ such that

(3.9)
$$\int_{\Omega} qv d\mu \neq \int_{\Omega} \sigma_{\mu} v d\mu$$

and $\int_{\Omega} \psi_{\mu} v d\mu = 0$ for every $\psi \in X(\Omega)$ with div $\psi = 0$. If $\psi \in C_{c}^{1}(\Omega, \mathbb{R}^{N})$ and div $\psi = 0$, then we have $\psi \in X(\Omega)$ and $\psi_{\mu} = p_{x}(\psi)$ μ -a.e. in Ω (Proposition 2.4(ii)), where p_{x} is the orthogonal projection on the linear space $E_{\mu}(x)$. Therefore

$$\int_{\Omega} \psi p_x(v) d\mu = \int_{\Omega} p_x(\psi) v d\mu = \int_{\Omega} \psi_{\mu} v d\mu = 0$$

for every $\psi \in C_c^1(\Omega, \mathbb{R}^N)$ with div $\psi = 0$. This implies, by Proposition 1.1, that there exists $u \in W_{\mu}^{1,1}(\Omega)$ such that $\nabla_{\mu}u(x) = p_x(v(x))$ for μ -a.e. $x \in \Omega$. Since $p_x(q(x)) = q(x)$ for μ -a.e. $x \in \Omega$ and $\Lambda^*q = f$, from (3.6) we obtain

(3.10)
$$\int_{\Omega} qv d\mu = \int_{\Omega} qp_x(v) d\mu = \int_{\Omega} q\nabla_{\mu} u d\mu = \int_{\Omega} f u dx.$$

Being $\sigma \in K_{f,A}$ and $p_x(\sigma_\mu(x)) = \sigma_\mu(x)$ for μ -a.e. $x \in \Omega$ (Proposition 2.4(a)), by (3.8) we have

(3.11)
$$\int_{\Omega} f u dx = \int_{\Omega} \sigma_{\mu} \nabla_{\mu} u d\mu = \int_{\Omega} \sigma_{\mu} p_{x}(v) d\mu = \int_{\Omega} \sigma_{\mu} v d\mu.$$

Putting (3.10) and (3.11) together, we obtain a contradiction to (3.9). This shows that $q - \sigma_{\mu} \in \mathcal{F}$ and proves that $q = \sigma_{\mu} \mu$ -a.e. in Ω . Therefore, for every $q \in H_{f,A}$ there exists $\sigma \in K_{f,A}$ such that $q = \sigma_{\mu} \mu$ -a.e. in Ω .

The proof of Proposition 3.1 is now complete. \Box

4. - Representation of the relaxed functional

In this section we prove the integral representation formula (0.2) for the lower semicontinuous envelope of an integral functional defined on the space $W^{1,1}_{\mu}(\Omega)$ introduced in (2.1). Let $\mu \in \mathcal{M}^b_+(\Omega)$, with $\mathcal{L}^N \ll \mu$, let $j : \Omega \times \mathbb{R}^N \to [0, +\infty[$ be a Borel function satisfying conditions (J1), (J2) and (J3) of Section 3, and let $\overline{J}_{\mu} : (BV(\Omega) \cap L^{N/(N-1)}(\Omega)) \times \mathcal{A}(\Omega) \to [0, +\infty[$ be the functional defined by

(4.1)
$$\overline{J}_{\mu}(u,A) = \inf \left\{ \liminf_{n \to \infty} J_{\mu}(u_n,A) : u_n \in BV(\Omega) \cap L^{N/(N-1)}(\Omega), \\ u_n \to u \text{ in } L^{N/(N-1)}(\Omega) \right\},$$

where J_{μ} is the integral functional introduced in (3.1). It is well-known that for every $A \in \mathcal{A}(\Omega)$ the function $\overline{J}_{\mu}(\cdot A)$ is the greatest $L^{N/(N-1)}(\Omega)$ -lower semicontinuous function less than or equal to $J_{\mu}(\cdot, A)$.

The integrands f and h which will appear in the integral representation (0.2) of \overline{J}_{μ} can be described explicitly in terms of the integrand j and of the convex subset K of $X(\Omega)$ defined by

(4.2)
$$K = \left\{ \sigma \in X(\Omega) : \int_{\Omega} j^*(x, \sigma_{\mu}) d\mu < +\infty \right\},$$

where σ_{μ} is given by Proposition 2.4 and $j^*(x, z^*)$ is the conjugate function of j(x, z) with respect to z. Note that, as $j^*(x, z^*) \ge -a(x)$, the integral in (4.2) makes sense for every $\sigma \in X(\Omega)$.

Let $\Gamma^{\mu}: \Omega \to \mathbb{R}^{\tilde{N}}$ be the closed-valued μ -measurable multifunction defined (see (1.1)) by

(4.3)
$$\Gamma^{\mu}(x) = \mu - \operatorname{ess\,sup}_{\sigma \in K} \left\{ \sigma_{\mu}(x) \right\}$$

and let $h_{\mu}: \Omega \times \mathbb{R}^N \to]-\infty, +\infty]$ be its support function, defined by

(4.4)
$$h_{\mu}(x,z) = \sup\{zz^* : z^* \in \Gamma^{\mu}(x)\}$$

Note that, for μ -a.e. $x \in \Omega$, the convex set $\Gamma^{\mu}(x)$ is contained in the closure of the essential domain of $j^{*}(x, \cdot)$, which, by (J2), is contained in linear subspace $E_{\mu}(x)$ defined by (2.2).

We are now in a position to introduce the integrands f and h which will appear in the integral representation of \overline{J}_{μ} . Let $f: \Omega \times \mathbb{R}^N \to [0, +\infty[$ be the $\mathcal{B}_{\mu}(\Omega) \times \mathcal{B}(\mathbb{R}^N)$ -measurable function

Let $f : \Omega \times \mathbb{R}^N \to [0, +\infty[$ be the $\mathcal{B}_{\mu}(\Omega) \times \mathcal{B}(\mathbb{R}^N)$ -measurable function defined by

(4.5)
$$f(x,z) = \sup_{z^* \in \Gamma^{\mu}(x)} [zz^* - j^*(x,z^*)],$$

and let h be the homogeneous integrand associated with K according to Proposition 1.8. Using the fact that $f(x,z) \leq j^{**}(x,z) = j(x,z), j^{*}(x,0) \leq 0$ and $\Gamma^{\mu}(x) \subseteq E_{\mu}(x)$ for μ -a.e. $x \in \Omega$, we obtain that

(4.6)
$$0 \le f(x, z) = f(x, p_x(z)) \le a(x) + \gamma |z|$$

for μ -a.e. $x \in \Omega$ and for every $z \in \mathbb{R}^N$, where p_x denotes the orthogonal projection on $E_{\mu}(x)$. As $j^*(x,0) \leq 0$, we have $0 \in K$. Since $j^*(x,z^*) = +\infty$ for $|z^*| > \gamma$, by Proposition 2.4(iii) we have $||\sigma||_{L^{\infty}} \leq \gamma$ for every $\sigma \in K$. Therefore, (1.11) and Remark 1.5 imply that we can choose h in its equivalence class (see (1.9)) so that

(4.7)
$$0 \le h(x,z) \le \gamma |z| \qquad \forall x \in \Omega, \ \forall z \in \mathbb{R}^N.$$

Let $f_{\infty}: \Omega \times \mathbb{R}^N \to [0, +\infty[$ be the recession function of f, defined by

(4.8)
$$f_{\infty}(x,z) = \lim_{t \to +\infty} \frac{f(x,tz)}{t}.$$

As $j^*(x, z^*) \ge -a(x)$, from (4.5) we obtain

$$f(x,z) \leq \sup_{z^* \in \Gamma^{\mu}(x)} [zz^* + a(x)] = h_{\mu}(x,z) + a(x).$$

Since $h_{\mu}(x, \cdot)$ is positively 1-homogeneous, we conclude that

(4.9)
$$f_{\infty}(x,z) \le h_{\mu}(x,z) \qquad \forall x \in \Omega, \ \forall z \in \mathbb{R}^{N}.$$

Let *D* be a countable subset of *K* such that $\{\sigma_{\mu} : \sigma \in D\}$ is dense in $\{\sigma_{\mu} : \sigma \in K\}$ for the strong topology of $L^{1}_{\mu}(\Omega, \mathbb{R}^{N})$. By the definition of $\Gamma^{\mu}(x)$ we have $\Gamma^{\mu}(x) = cl\{\sigma_{\mu}(x) : \sigma \in D\}$ for μ -a.e. $x \in \Omega$, where cl denotes the closure in \mathbb{R}^{N} . Therefore, for μ -a.e. $x \in \Omega$ we obtain

(4.10)
$$h_{\mu}(x,z) = \sup_{\sigma \in D} \sigma_{\mu}(x)z \quad \forall z \in \mathbb{R}^{N}.$$

For every $\sigma \in D$ and for μ -a.e. $x \in \Omega$ we have $\sigma_{\mu}(x) \in \Gamma^{\mu}(x)$, hence, by (4.5),

$$rac{f(x,tz)}{t} \geq \sigma_{\mu}(x)z - rac{j^{*}(x,\sigma_{\mu}(x))}{t} \qquad orall x \in \Omega, \ orall z \in \mathbb{R}^{N}, \ orall t > 0.$$

Since $j^*(x, \sigma_{\mu}) < +\infty$ μ -a.e. in Ω by (4.2), taking the limit as t tends to $+\infty$ we get $f_{\infty}(x, z) \ge \sigma_{\mu}(x)z$ for μ -a.e. $x \in \Omega$ and for every $z \in \mathbb{R}^N$. Taking (4.10) into account, we obtain $f_{\infty}(x, z) \ge h_{\mu}(x, z)$, which, together with (4.9), gives $f_{\infty}(x, z) = h_{\mu}(x, z)$ for μ -a.e. $x \in \Omega$ and for every $z \in \mathbb{R}^N$. Therefore Proposition 2.7 gives

(4.11)
$$f_{\infty}(x,z) = h_{\mu}(x,z) = h(x,p_x(z))$$

513

for μ -a.e. $x \in \Omega$ and for every $z \in \mathbb{R}^N$.

We are now in a position to state the integral representation theorem for the relaxed functional \overline{J}_{μ} .

THEOREM 4.1. Let $\mu \in \mathcal{M}^b_+(\Omega)$, with $\mathcal{L}^N \ll \mu$, let $j : \Omega \times \mathbb{R}^N \to [0, +\infty[$ be a Borel function satisfying conditions (J1), (J2) and (J3) of Section 3, and let

$$\overline{J}_{\mu}: (BV(\Omega) \cap L^{N/N-1}(\Omega)) \times \mathcal{A}(\Omega) \to [0, +\infty[$$

be the functional defined by (4.1). Then for every $u \in BV(\Omega) \cap L^{N/N-1}(\Omega)$ and for every $A \in A(\Omega)$ we have

(4.12)
$$\overline{J}_{\mu}(u,A) = \int_{A} f(x,\nabla_{\mu}u)d\mu + \int_{A} h(x,\nu_{u}(x))|D_{\mu}^{s}u|,$$

where f is defined by (4.5) and h is the homogeneous integrand associated (according to Proposition 1.8) with the set K defined by (4.2).

EXAMPLE. Take $\mu = \mathcal{L}^N$ and let Ω_1 and Ω_2 be two open subsets of Ω such that $\Sigma = \partial \Omega_1 \cup \partial \Omega_2$ is a smooth (N-1)-dimensional hypersurface. Denoting by ν the unit normal to Σ pointing outwards from Ω_1 to Ω_2 , we have for every $u \in BV(\Omega)$ and every $B \in \mathcal{B}(\Omega)$ that $Du(\Sigma \cap B) = (u_2 - u_1)\nu H^{N-1}(\Sigma \cap B)$ where u_1 and u_2 are the traces in $L^1(\Sigma)$ of $u|_{\Omega_1}$ and $u|_{\Omega_2}$.

Having in mind the model of two homogeneous media separated by an interface, we consider convex functions j_1 and j_2 on \mathbb{R}^N such that $0 \le j_i(z) \le \gamma(1 + |z|)$ (i = 1, 2) and define:

$$j(x,z) = \begin{cases} j_1(z) & \text{if } x \in \Omega_1, \\ j_2(z) & \text{if } x \in \Omega_2, \end{cases}$$
$$E(u) = J_{\mu}(u,\Omega) = \begin{cases} \int g(x,\nabla u(x))dx & \text{if } u \in W^{1,1}(\Omega), \\ \Omega & \\ +\infty & \text{otherwise.} \end{cases}$$

A quite easy computation yields that the homogeneous integrand defined by Proposition 1.8 can be taken as:

$$h(x,z) = \begin{cases} (j_i)_{\infty}(z) & \text{if } x \in \Omega_i, \\ (j_1)_{\infty} \wedge (j_2)_{\infty}(z) & \text{if } x \in \Sigma. \end{cases}$$

From Theorem 4.1 one gets:

$$\begin{split} \overline{E}(u) &= \sum_{i=1,2} \int_{\Omega_i} j_i (\nabla u(x)) dx + \int_{\Omega_i} (j_i)_{\infty} (D^s u)) \\ &+ \int_{\Sigma} (j_1)_{\infty} \wedge (j_2)_{\infty} (\nu (u_2 - u_1)) dH^{N-1}. \end{split}$$

Note that a similar result holds in case of vector-valued functions $u \in BV(\Omega, \mathbb{R}^N)$ and can be applied to heterogeneous elasto-plastic materials.

To prove the theorem, we need the notions of C^1 -stability and C^1 -inf-stability introduced in the following definition.

DEFINITION 4.2. Given a measure $\lambda \in M_{+}^{b}(\Omega)$ and a set H of λ -measurable functions from Ω into \mathbb{R}^{N} , we say that H is C^{1} -stable if for every finite family $(u_{i})_{i\in I}$ of elements of H and for every family $(\alpha_{i})_{i\in I}$ of non-negative functions of $C^{1}(\overline{\Omega})$ such that $\Sigma_{i}\alpha_{i} = 1$ in Ω , we have that $\Sigma_{i}\alpha_{i}u_{i}$ belongs to H. In the case n = 1, we say that H is C^{1} -inf-stable if, under the same conditions for $(u_{i})_{i\in I}$ and $(\alpha_{i})_{i\in I}$, there exists $u \in H$ such that $u \leq \Sigma_{i}\alpha_{i}u_{i}$ λ -a.e. in Ω .

Note that C^1 stability implies convexity.

LEMMA 4.3. Let $\lambda \in \mathcal{M}^{b}_{+}(\Omega)$, let K be a C^{1} -stable set of λ -measurable functions from Ω into \mathbb{R}^{N} , and let $f: \Omega \times \mathbb{R}^{N} \to]+\infty, +\infty$ be a $\mathcal{B}_{\lambda}(\Omega) \times \mathcal{B}(\mathbb{R}^{N})$ measurable function such that $f(x, \cdot)$ is convex on \mathbb{R}^{N} for λ -a.e. $x \in \Omega$. Suppose that $f(x, u) \in L^{1}_{\lambda}(\Omega)$ for every $u \in K$ and let $\Gamma(x) = \lambda$ -ess sup $\{u(x)\}$ (see (1.1)) and $g(x) = \inf_{z \in \Gamma(x)} f(x, z)$. Then

(4.13)
$$\inf_{u \in K} \int_{\Omega} f(x, u) d\lambda = \int_{\Omega} g d\lambda.$$

Moreover

(4.14)
$$\inf_{z\in\Gamma(x)} f(x,z) = \lambda \operatorname{ess\,inf}_{u\in K} f(x,u(x)) \qquad \lambda \operatorname{-a.e.} \ in \ \Omega.$$

If H is a C^1 -inf-stable subset of $L^1_{\lambda}(\Omega)$, then

(4.15)
$$\inf_{u\in H} \int_{\Omega} ud\lambda = \int_{\Omega} wd\lambda,$$

where $w = \lambda \operatorname{-ess\,inf}_{u \in H} u$.

PROOF. For (4.13) and (4.14) see [7], Theorem 1. Equality (4.15) is an easy consequence. Indeed, let us consider the subset K of $L^1_{\lambda}(\Omega)$ obtained by taking all convex combinations of elements of H whose coefficients are functions of $C^1(\overline{\Omega})$. From the definition of C^1 -inf-stability one has

$$\inf_{u\in H}\int_{\Omega} ud\lambda = \inf_{u\in K}\int_{\Omega} ud\lambda.$$

As K is C^1 -stable, we may apply (4.13) with f(x, z) = z for every $(x, z) \in \Omega \times \mathbb{R}$. If v is λ -measurable and $v \leq u \lambda$ -a.e. in Ω for every $u \in H$, then we have also $v \leq u \ \lambda$ -a.e. in Ω for every $u \in K$, hence

$$\lambda$$
-ess inf $u = \lambda$ -ess inf u λ -a.e. in Ω ,
 $u \in H$

and the conclusion follows from (4.13) and (4.14).

PROOF OF THEOREM 4.1. Let us prove that for every $A \in \mathcal{A}(\Omega)$ we have

(4.16)
$$\overline{J}_{\mu}(u,A) = \sup\{\overline{J}_{\mu}(u,A') : A' \in \mathcal{A}_{c}(\Omega), A' \subset CA\}.$$

Let $A \in \mathcal{A}(\Omega)$ and let $\varepsilon > 0$. Then there exists a compact subset C of A such that

(4.17)
$$\int_{A\setminus C} ad\mu + \gamma \int_{A\setminus C} |Du| < \varepsilon.$$

Using Proposition 4.16 and Theorem 6.1 of [16], we obtain

(4.18)
$$\overline{J}_{\mu}(u,A) \leq \overline{J}_{\mu}(u,A') + \overline{J}_{\mu}(u,A\backslash C)$$

for every $A' \in \mathcal{A}_{c}(\Omega)$ such that $C \subseteq A' \subset \mathcal{A}$. Since, by (J3),

$$\overline{J}_{\mu}(u,A\backslash C)\leq \int\limits_{A\backslash C}ad\mu+\gamma\int\limits_{A\backslash C}|Du|,$$

(4.16) follows from (4.17) and (4.18). Therefore, it is enough to prove the theorem when $A \in \mathcal{A}_{c}(\Omega)$.

By Proposition 3.1, for every $f \in L^{N}(\Omega)$ and for every $A \in \mathcal{A}_{c}(\Omega)$ we have

$$J^*_{\mu}(f,A) = \min_{\sigma \in K_{f,A}} \int_{\Omega} j^*_A(x,\sigma_{\mu}) d\mu,$$

where $K_{f,A} = \{ \sigma \in X(\Omega) : -\operatorname{div} \sigma = f \text{ in } \Omega, \sigma = 0 \ \mathcal{L}^N$ -a.e. in $\Omega \setminus A \}$ and j_A is defined by (3.3). Let us fix $u \in BV(\Omega) \cap L^{N/(N-1)}(\Omega)$ and $A \in \mathcal{A}_c(\Omega)$. Since $\overline{J}_{\mu}(u, A) = J_{\mu}^{**}(u, A)$ (see [29], Theorem 5), we have

$$\overline{J}_{\mu}(u, A) = \sup_{f \in L^{N}(\Omega)} \left[\int_{\Omega} f u dx - J_{\mu}^{*}(f, A) \right]$$
$$= \sup_{f \in L^{N}(\Omega)} \max_{\sigma \in K_{f,A}} \left[\int_{\Omega} f u dx - \int_{\Omega} j_{A}^{*}(x, \sigma_{\mu}) d\mu \right].$$

If $\sigma \in X(\Omega)$ and $\sigma = 0$ \mathcal{L}^N -a.e. in $\Omega \setminus A$, then $[\sigma \cdot \nu_{\Omega}] = 0$ H^{N-1} -a.e. on ∂A (see (1.5)). This implies that, if $f = -\operatorname{div} \sigma$, then $f \in L^N(\Omega)$ and $\int_{\Omega} fudx = \int_{\Omega} (\sigma \cdot Du)$

(see Proposition 1.3(vi) and Lemma 1.7). Therefore, we can eliminate f in the supremum and we obtain

(4.19)
$$\overline{J}_{\mu}(u,A) = \sup_{\sigma \in K_A} \left[\int_{\Omega} (\sigma \cdot Du) - \int_{\Omega} j_A^*(x,\sigma_{\mu}) d\mu \right],$$

where $K_A = \{ \sigma \in L^{\infty}(\Omega, \mathbb{R}^N) : \sigma = 0 \ \mathcal{L}^N$ -a.e. in $\Omega \setminus A$, $\int_{\Omega} j_A^*(x, \sigma_\mu) d\mu < +\infty \}$.

Note that, since $j^*(x, z^*) \ge -a(x)$, the integral $\int_{\Omega} j^*_A(x, \sigma_\mu) d\mu$ is well-defined

(possibly $+\infty$) for every $\sigma \in X(\Omega)$ (see 3.4)). In particular $j^*(x, \sigma_{\mu}) \in L^1_{\mu}(\Omega)$ for every $\sigma \in K_A$. By Proposition 2.4((iii) and (v)) we have

$$K_A = \{ \sigma \in X(\Omega) : \sigma_\mu = 0 \ \mu \text{-a.e. in } \Omega \setminus A, \int_{\Omega} j_A^*(x, \sigma_\mu) d\mu < +\infty \}.$$

Since $j(x, z) \ge 0$, one checks easily that $j^*(x, 0) \le 0$. Using Proposition 2.4(iv) and the convexity of $j^*(x, \cdot)$, it is easy to prove that $\varphi \sigma \in K_A$ for every $\sigma \in K$ and for every $\varphi \in C_c^1(A)$ with $0 \le \varphi \le 1$. Since $K_A \subseteq K$ and $\sigma = 0$ \mathcal{L}^N -a.e. on $\Omega \setminus A$ for every $\sigma \in K_A$, from Lemma 1.9 we obtain that, if h is the homogeneous integrand associated with K, then the homogeneous integrand associated with K_A is equivalent to the function h_A defined by $h_A(x,z) = h(x,z)$, if $x \in A$, and $h_A(x,z) = 0$, if $x \in \Omega \setminus A$. Therefore, Proposition 1.8 yields

(4.20)
$$h_A(x,\nu_u) = |Du| - \operatorname{ess\,sup}_{\sigma \in K_A} q_\sigma(x,\nu_u) \qquad |Du| \text{-a.e. in } \Omega.$$

Let $\Gamma_A^{\mu}: \Omega \to \mathbb{R}^N$ be the multifunction defined by $\Gamma_A^{\mu}(x) = \Gamma^{\mu}(x)$, if $x \in A$, and $\Gamma_A^{\mu}(x) = \{0\}$, if $x \in \Omega \setminus A$. Using Proposition 2.4(iv) it is easy to see that

(4.21)
$$\Gamma^{\mu}_{A}(x) = \mu - \operatorname{ess\,sup}_{\sigma \in K_{A}} \{\sigma_{\mu}(x)\} \qquad \mu \text{-a.e. in } \Omega.$$

Finally, let $f_A : \Omega \times \mathbb{R}^N \to [0, +\infty[$ be defined by $f_A(x, z) = f(x, z)$, if $x \in A$, and $f_A(x, z) = 0$, if $x \in \Omega \setminus A$, where f is given by (4.5). By (3.4) it is easy to see that

$$f_A(x,z) = \sup_{z^* \in \Gamma^{\mu}(x)} [zz^* - j_A^*(x,z^*)] \qquad \forall x \in \Omega, \ \forall z \in \mathbb{R}^N.$$

Since the set $\{\sigma_{\mu} : \sigma \in K_A\}$ is C^1 -stable (see Proposition 2.4(iv)), by Lemma 4.3 and by (4.21) we have

(4.22)
$$-f_A(x, \nabla_\mu u) = \mu - \operatorname{ess\,inf}_{\sigma \in K_A} \left[j_A^*(x, \sigma_\mu) - \sigma_\mu \nabla_\mu u \right] \quad \mu \text{-a.e. on } \Omega.$$

Let us consider now the measure $\lambda = \mu + |D_{\mu}^{s}u|$. Clearly $|Du| \ll \lambda$, hence $(\sigma \cdot Du) \ll \lambda$ for every $\sigma \in X(\Omega)$ (Proposition 1.3(i)). Let *M* be a Borel subset of Ω such that $\mu(M) = 0$ and $|D_{\mu}^{s}u|(\Omega \setminus M) = 0$. Thanks to Proposition 1.6 and 2.4 we can write

$$\frac{d(\sigma \cdot Du)}{d\lambda} = \begin{cases} \sigma_{\mu} \nabla_{\mu} u & \lambda \text{-a.e. on } \Omega \backslash M, \\ q_{\sigma}(x, \nu_{\mu}) & \lambda \text{-a.e. on } M. \end{cases}$$

Let $T_u: K_A \to L^1_\lambda(\Omega)$ be the operator defined by

$$T_u(\sigma) = \begin{cases} j_A^*(x, \sigma_\mu) - \sigma_\mu \nabla_\mu u & \text{on } \Omega \backslash M, \\ q_\sigma(x, \nu_\mu) & \text{on } M, \end{cases}$$

and let $H = \{T_u(\sigma) : \sigma \in K_A\}$. Notice that, by (4.19),

(4.23)
$$\overline{J}_{\mu}(u,A) = -\inf_{\sigma \in K_A} \int_{\Omega} T_u(\sigma) d\lambda.$$

If $(\sigma^i)_{i \in I}$ is a finite subset of H and $(\alpha^i)_{i \in I}$ is a family of non-negative functions of $C^1(\overline{\Omega})$ such that $\Sigma_i \alpha_i = 1$ in Ω , then $\sigma = \Sigma_i \alpha^i \sigma^i$ belongs to K_A and $\sigma_\mu = \Sigma_i \alpha^i \sigma^i_\mu$ μ -a.e. in Ω (see Proposition 2.4(iv)). Therefore, by the convexity of $j_A^*(x, \cdot)$, we have

(4.24)
$$T_u(\sigma) \leq \Sigma_i \alpha^i T_u(\sigma^i) \qquad \lambda \text{a.e. in } \Omega \setminus M.$$

On the other hand, by Remark 1.5 we have

(4.25)
$$T_u(\sigma) \leq \sum_i \alpha^i T_u(\sigma^i) \qquad \lambda \text{ a.e. in } M.$$

From (4.24) and (4.25) it follows that H is C^1 -inf-stable. Let

$$g = \lambda \operatorname{-} \operatorname{essinf}_{\sigma \in K_A} T_u(\sigma).$$

By Lemma 4.3 and by (4.23) we have $\overline{J}_{\mu}(u, A) = -\int_{\Omega} g d\lambda$. By (4.20) and (4.22) we have $g = -f_A(x, \nabla_{\mu} u) \lambda$ -a.e. on $\Omega \setminus M$ and $g = -h_A(x, \nu_u) \lambda$ -a.e. on M, hence

$$\overline{J}_{\mu}(u,A) = \int_{\Omega} f_A(x,\nabla_{\mu}u)d\mu + \int_{\Omega} h_A(x,\nu_u)|D^s_{\mu}u|.$$

By the definition of f_A and h_A , the last equality is equivalent to (4.12).

We conclude this section with a lower semicontinuity theorem on $W^{1,1}_{\mu}(\Omega)$, which extends the results for $W^{1,1}(\Omega)$ obtained in [21]. We recall that Γ^{μ} is the closed valued μ -measurable multifunction defined by (4.3) and that $j^*(x, z^*)$ is the conjugate function of j(x, z) with respect to z. The (effective) domain of a convex function $g : \mathbb{R}^N \to \overline{\mathbb{R}}$ will be denoted by dom g, and the closure of a subset A of \mathbb{R}^N will be denoted by cl A.

THEOREM 4.4. Let $\mu \in M^b_+(\Omega)$, with $\mathcal{L}^N \ll \mu$, and let $j: \Omega \times \mathbb{R}^N \to [0, +\infty[$ be a Borel function satisfying conditions (J1), (J2) and (J3) of Section 3, and let $J: W^{1,1}_{\mu}(\Omega) \to [0, +\infty[$ be the functional defined by

$$J(u) = \int_{\Omega} j(x, \nabla_{\mu} u) d\mu.$$

Then the following conditions are equivalent:

- (i) J is $L^{N/(N-1)}(\Omega)$ -lower semicontinuous on $W^{1,1}_{\mu}(\Omega) \cap L^{N/N-1}(\Omega)$;
- (ii) $\operatorname{cl}(\operatorname{dom} j^*(x, \cdot)) = \Gamma^{\mu}(x)$ for μ -a.e. $x \in \Omega$;
- (iii) dom $j^*(x, \cdot) \subseteq \Gamma^{\mu}(x)$ for μ -a.e. $x \in \Omega$;
- (iv) $j(x,z) = \sup_{z^* \in \Gamma^{\mu}(x)} [zz^* j^*(x,z^*)]$ for μ -a.e. $x \in \Omega$ and for every $z \in \mathbb{R}^N$;
- (v) there exists a countable subset D of $X(\Omega)$ such that

$$\int_{\Omega} j^*(x,\sigma_{\mu})d\mu < +\infty \qquad \forall \sigma \in D$$

and

$$j(x,z) = \sup_{\sigma \in D} \left[\sigma_{\mu}(x)z - j^{*}(x,\sigma_{\mu}(x)) \right] \qquad \forall z \in \mathbb{R}^{N}$$

for μ -a.e. $x \in \Omega$.

PROOF. (i) \Rightarrow (iv). If J is $L^{N/(N-1)}(\Omega)$ -lower semicontinuous on $W^{1,1}_{\mu}(\Omega) \cap L^{N/(N-1)}(\Omega)$, then $J(u) = \overline{J}_{\mu}(u, \Omega)$ for every $u \in W^{1,1}_{\mu}(\Omega) \cap L^{N/(N-1)}(\Omega)$. By Theorem 4.1 this implies that

$$\int_{\Omega} j(x, \nabla_{\mu} u) d\mu = \int_{\Omega} f(x, \nabla_{\mu} u) d\mu \qquad \forall u \in W^{1,1}_{\mu}(\Omega) \cap L^{N/(N-1)}(\Omega),$$

where f is the function defined by (4.5). As $f(x,z) \leq j^{**}(x,z) = j(x,z)$, we obtain $j(x, \nabla_{\mu}u) = f(x, \nabla_{\mu}u) \mu$ -a.e. in Ω for every $u \in W_{\mu}^{1,1}(\Omega) \cap L^{N/(N-1)}(\Omega)$. Let D be a countable subset of $W_{\mu}^{1,1}(\Omega) \cap L^{N/(N-1)}(\Omega)$ such that $\{\nabla_{\mu}u : u \in D\}$ is dense in $\{\nabla_{\mu}u : u \in W_{\mu}^{1,1}(\Omega)\}$ for the strong topology of $L_{\mu}^{1}(\Omega, \mathbb{R}^{N})$. By Proposition 2.5 we have $E_{\mu}(x) = cl\{\nabla_{\mu}u(x) : u \in D\}$ for μ -a.e. $x \in \Omega$. Since the functions $f(x, \cdot)$ and $j(x, \cdot)$ are continuous, and for every $u \in D$ we have $j(x, \nabla_{\mu}u(x)) = f(x, \nabla_{\mu}u(x))$ for μ -a.e. $x \in \Omega$, we conclude that j(x, z) = f(x, z) for μ -a.e. $x \in \Omega$ and for every $z \in E_{\mu}(x)$. By (J2) and (4.6), the same equality holds for every $z \in \mathbb{R}^{N}$. This concludes the proof of (iv).

(iv) \Rightarrow (i). Let f be the function defined by (4.5). If (iv) holds, then j(x,z) = f(x,z) for μ -a.e. $x \in \Omega$ and for every $z \in \mathbb{R}^N$. Therefore, using Theorem 4.1 we get $J(u) = \overline{J}_{\mu}(u, \Omega)$ for every $u \in W^{1,1}_{\mu}(\Omega) \cap L^{N/(N-1)}(\Omega)$, and, by (4.1), this implies that J is $L^{N/(N-1)}(\Omega)$ -lower semicontinuous on $W^{1,1}_{\mu}(\Omega) \cap L^{N/(N-1)}(\Omega).$

(ii) \Leftrightarrow (iii). Recall that, by the definition of $\Gamma^{\mu}(x)$, we have $\Gamma^{\mu}(x) \subset$ cl(dom $j^*(x, \cdot)$) for μ -a.e. $x \in \Omega$.

(iii) \Leftrightarrow (iv). For every $x \in \Omega$, let $\chi_{\mu}(x, \cdot)$ be the indicator function of $\Gamma^{\mu}(x)$, defined by $\chi_{\mu}(x, z^*) = 0$ if $z^* \in \Gamma^{\mu}(x)$, and $\chi_{\mu}(x, z^*) = +\infty$ if $z^* \notin \Gamma^{\mu}(x)$. Then (iii) can be written as

$$(4.26) j^*(x, \cdot) = j^*(x, \cdot) + \chi_{\mu}(x, \cdot) \text{for } \mu\text{-a.e. } x \in \Omega,$$

while (iv) can be written as

(4.27)
$$j(x, \cdot) = (j^*(x, \cdot) + \chi_{\mu}(x, \cdot))^* \quad \text{for } \mu\text{-a.e. } x \in \Omega.$$

Since $j(x, \cdot)$, $j^*(x, \cdot)$ and $\chi_{\mu}(x, \cdot)$ are convex and lower semicontinuous on \mathbb{R}^N , conditions (4.26) and (4.27) are equivalent.

(iii) \Rightarrow (v). By the definition of $\Gamma^{\mu}(x)$ there exists a countable subset D of K such that $\{\sigma_{\mu}(x) : \sigma \in D\}$ is dense in $\Gamma^{\mu}(x)$ for μ -a.e. $x \in \Omega$. From (iii) and from the definition of K it follows that the set $\{\sigma_{\mu}(x) : \sigma \in D\}$ is dense also in dom $j^*(x, \cdot)$ for μ -a.e. $x \in \Omega$.

We recall that the relative interior of a convex subset A of \mathbb{R}^N , denoted by ri A, is defined as the interior of A in the relative topology of the affine hull of A. For every $x \in \Omega$ we set $D(x) = \{\sigma_{\mu}(x) : \sigma \in D\} \cap \operatorname{ri}(\operatorname{dom} j^*(x, \cdot))$. Then D(x) is dense in ri(dom $j^*(x, \cdot)$) for μ -a.e. $x \in \Omega$. As the restriction of $j^*(x, \cdot)$ is continuous on ri(dom $j^*(x, \cdot)$) (see [27], Theorem 10.1), we obtain

$$\sup_{z^* \in D(x)} [zz^* - j^*(x, z^*)] = \sup_{z^* \in \operatorname{ri}(\operatorname{dom} j^*(x, \cdot))} [[zz^* - j^*(x, z^*)] = j^{**}(x, z)$$

(see [27], Corollary 12.2.2), hence

$$j^{**}(x,z) = \sup_{z^* \in D(x)} [zz^* - j^*(x,z^*)] \le \sup_{\sigma \in D} [\sigma_{\mu}(x)z - j^*(x,\sigma_{\mu}(x))] \le j^{**}(x,z) = j(x,z),$$

which proves (v).

(v) \Rightarrow (iv). If (v) holds, then $\sigma_{\mu}(x) \in \Gamma^{\mu}(x)$ for μ -a.e. $x \in \Omega$ and for every $\sigma \in D$. Therefore

$$j(x,z) \le \sup_{z^* \in \Gamma^{\mu}(x)} [zz^* - j^*(x,z^*)] \qquad \forall z \in \mathbb{R}^N$$

for μ -a.e. $x \in \Omega$. As $j(x, z) = j^{**}(x, z)$, the opposite inequality is trivial.

5. - The main representation theorem

In this section we prove an integral representation theorem for a functional

$$F: BV(\Omega) \times \mathcal{B}(\Omega) \to [0, +\infty[$$

satisfying the following hypotheses:

- (H1) for every $u \in BV(\Omega)$ the set function $F(u, \cdot)$ is a Borel measure on Ω ;
- (H2) for every $A \in \mathcal{A}(\Omega)$ the function $F(\cdot, A)$ is convex and $L^{N/(N-1)}_{loc}(\Omega)$ -lower semicontinuous on $BV(\Omega)$;
- (H3) there exists $\gamma \in \mathbb{R}$ and $\alpha \in \mathcal{M}^b_+(\Omega)$ such that

$$0 \le F(u, B) \le \alpha(B) + \gamma \int_{B} |Du|$$

for every $u \in BV(\Omega)$ and for every $B \in \mathcal{B}(\Omega)$.

THEOREM 5.1. Assume that the functional $F : BV(\Omega) \times \mathcal{B}(\Omega) \to [0, +\infty[$ satisfies hypotheses (H1), (H2) and (H3). Then there exist a measure $\mu \in \mathcal{M}^b_+(\Omega)$, with $\alpha + \mathcal{L}^N \ll \mu$, and two Borel functions $f, h : \Omega \times \mathbb{R}^N \to [0, +\infty[$ such that

(i) for μ -a.e. $x \in \Omega$ the function $f(x, \cdot)$ is convex on \mathbb{R}^N and satisfies

$$0 \leq f(x,z) = f(x,p_x(z)) \leq \frac{d\alpha}{d\mu}(x) + \gamma |z| \qquad \forall z \in \mathbb{R}^N,$$

where p_x denotes the orthogonal projection on the linear space $E_{\mu}(x)$ defined in (2.2);

(ii) for every $x \in \Omega$ the function $h(x, \cdot)$ is positively 1-homogeneous on \mathbb{R}^N and

$$0 \leq h(x,z) \leq \gamma |z| \qquad \forall z \in \mathbb{R}^N;$$

(iii) for μ -a.e. $x \in \Omega$ we have

$$f_{\infty}(x,z) = h(x,p_x(z)) \qquad \forall z \in \mathbb{R}^N,$$

where f_{∞} is the recession function of f with respect to z defined in (4.8); (iv) for every $u \in BV(\Omega)$ and for every $B \in \mathcal{B}(\Omega)$ we have

$$F(u,B) = \int_B f(x,\nabla_\mu u(x))d\mu + \int_B h(x,\nu_u(x))|D^s_\mu u|.$$

We begin with some lemmas concerning the conjugate functional F^* : $L^N(\Omega) \times \mathcal{A}(\Omega) \rightarrow] - \infty, +\infty]$ defined by

(5.1)
$$F^*(f,A) = \sup\left\{\int_{\Omega} fudx - F(u,A) : u \in BV(\Omega) \cap L^{N/(N-1)}(\Omega)\right\}$$

LEMMA 5.2. Assume that F satisfies (H1), (H2) and (H3). Then

(5.2)
$$F(u, A) = \sup_{f \in L^{N}(\Omega)} \left[\int_{\Omega} fu dx - F^{*}(f, A) \right],$$

for every $u \in BV(\Omega) \cap L^{N/(N-1)}(\Omega)$ and for every $A \in \mathcal{A}(\Omega)$.

PROOF. Given $A \in \mathcal{A}(\Omega)$, let $\Phi : L^{N/(N-1)}(\Omega) \to [0, +\infty]$ be the convex function defined by

(5.3)
$$\Phi(u) = \begin{cases} F(u, A) & \text{if } u \in BV(\Omega) \cap L^{N/(N-1)}(\Omega), \\ +\infty & \text{otherwise,} \end{cases}$$

and let $\Phi^*: L^N(\Omega) \to] -\infty, +\infty]$ be the conjugate function of Φ . Then $\Phi^*(f) = F^*(f, A)$ for every $f \in L^N(\Omega)$ and $\Phi(u) = \Phi^{**}(u)$ at every $u \in L^{N/(N-1)}(\Omega)$ where Φ is lower semicontinuous (see [29], Theorem 5). The conclusion follows now from the fact that Φ is lower semicontinuous at each point u of $BV(\Omega) \cap L^{N/N-1}(\Omega)$.

Following an idea from [6], we construct now a measure μ in order to obtain $F = \overline{J}_{\mu}$, where \overline{J}_{μ} is the functional defined by (4.1).

LEMMA 5.3. Assume that F satisfies (H1), (H2) and (H3). Then for every countable subset \mathcal{D} of $\mathcal{A}(\Omega)$ there exists a measure $\mu \in \mathcal{M}^b_+(\Omega)$, with $\alpha + \mathcal{L}^N \ll \mu$, such that

(5.4)
$$F^*(f,A) = \sup\left\{\int_{\Omega} fudx - F(u,A) : u \in W^{1,1}_{\mu}(\Omega) \cap L^{N/N-1}(\Omega)\right\}$$

for every $f \in L^N(\Omega)$ and for every $A \in \mathcal{D}$.

PROOF. Let $A \in \mathcal{D}$. By the definition (5.1), $F^*(\cdot, A)$ is the supremum of a family of continuous functions on $L^N(\Omega)$. Since $L^N(\Omega)$ is a separable Banach space, by the Lindelöf property this supremum is reached by taking a countable subfamily. Doing this for every element A of the countable set \mathcal{D} , we finally obtain the existence of a sequence (u_k) in $BV(\Omega) \cap L^{N/(N-1)}(\Omega)$ such that

(5.5)
$$F^*(f,A) = \sup_{k \in \mathbb{N}} \left[\int_{\Omega} f u_k dx - F(u_k,A) \right] \quad \forall f \in L^N(\Omega), \ \forall A \in \mathcal{D}.$$

Let $c_k = 2^{-k} \left[\int_{\Omega} |Du_k| \right]^{-1}$ and let $\mu \in \mathcal{M}^b_+(\Omega)$ be the measure defined by $\mu = \alpha + \mathcal{L}^N + \sum_k c_k |Du_k|$. Then (5.4) follows from (5.5), noticing that $u_k \in W^{1,1}_{\mu}(\Omega) \cap L^{N/(N-1)}(\Omega)$ for every $k \in \mathbb{N}$.

LEMMA 5.4. Assume that F satisfies (H1), (H2) and (H3). Then there exist a measure $\mu \in \mathcal{M}^{b}_{+}(\Omega)$, with $\alpha + \mathcal{L}^{N} \ll \mu$, and a Borel function $j : \Omega \times \mathbb{R}^{N} \to [0, +\infty[$, satisfying conditions (J1), (J2) and (J3) of Section 3 with $a(x) = \frac{d\alpha}{d\mu}(x)$, such that for every $u \in BV(\Omega) \cap L^{N/(N-1)}(\Omega)$ and for every $A \in \mathcal{A}(\Omega)$ we have

(5.6)
$$F(u, A) = \overline{J}_{\mu}(u, A),$$

where \overline{J}_{μ} is defined by (4.1).

PROOF. Let \mathcal{D} be a countable subset of $\mathcal{A}_{c}(\Omega)$ with the following density property: for every pair $(A_{1}, A_{2}) \in \mathcal{A}(\Omega) \times \mathcal{A}(\Omega)$, with $A_{1} \subset \mathcal{A}_{2}$, there exists $A \in \mathcal{D}$ such that $A_{1} \subset \mathcal{A} \subset \mathcal{A}_{2}$.

Thanks to Lemma 5.3 there exists some measure $\mu \in \mathcal{M}^b_+(\Omega)$, with $\alpha + \mathcal{L}^N \ll \mu$, such that (5.4) holds for every $f \in L^N(\Omega)$ and for every $A \in \mathcal{D}$. By Theorem 2.8, there exists a Borel function $j: \Omega \times \mathbb{R}^N \to [0, +\infty[$, satisfying conditions (J1), (J2) and (J3) of Section 3 with $a(x) = \frac{d\alpha}{d\mu}(x)$, such that

$$F(u,A)=\int\limits_A j(x,
abla_\mu u)d\mu=J_\mu(u,A) \qquad orall u\in W^{1,1}_\mu(\Omega).$$

Therefore, by (5.4), $F^*(f, A) = J^*_{\mu}(f, A)$ for every $f \in L^N(\Omega)$ and for every $A \in D$, where J^*_{μ} is the functional definition by (3.2). Since $\overline{J}_{\mu}(\cdot, A) = J^{**}_{\mu}(\cdot, A)$ on $BV(\Omega) \cap L^{N/(N-1)}(\Omega)$ (see [29], Theorem 5), from Lemma 5.2 we obtain that (5.6) holds for every $u \in BV(\Omega) \cap L^{N/(N-1)}(\Omega)$ and for every $A \in D$. The extension of this equality to the general case $A \in \mathcal{A}(\Omega)$ follows from the fact that both $F(u, \cdot)$ and $\overline{J}_{\mu}(u, \cdot)$ are measures (see (H1) and (4.12)) and from the density property of D.

PROOF OF THEOREM 5.1. By Theorem 4.1 and Lemma 5.4, for every $u \in BV(\Omega) \cap L^{N/(N-1)}(\Omega)$ and for every $A \in \mathcal{A}(\Omega)$ we have

$$F(u, A) = \int_A f(x, \nabla_\mu u) d\mu + \int_A h(x, \nu_u(x)) |D^s_\mu u|,$$

where f is defined by (4.5) and h is the homogeneous integrand associated with the set K defined by (4.2). Conditions (i), (ii) and (iii) follow from (4.6), (4.7) and (4.11). The extension of this representation formula to the case $u \in BV(\Omega)$ follows from the locality property (2.29). The extension to an arbitrary $B \in \mathcal{B}(\Omega)$ is a trivial consequence of the fact that $F(u, \cdot)$ is a Borel measure (hypothesis (H1)).

In general, the function f defined by (4.5) is not Borel measurable, but it can be replaced by a Borel function, still denoted by f, which coincides with the previous one for μ -a.e. $x \in \Omega$ and for every $z \in \mathbb{R}^N$ (the existence of such a function follows easily from the fact that f is $\mathcal{B}_{\mu}(\Omega)$ -measurable in x and

continuous in z). After this modification, the pair f, h satisfies all conditions of the theorem.

The following corollary deals with the case of positively 1-homogeneous functionals.

COROLLARY 5.5. Assume that the functional $F : BV(\Omega) \times \mathcal{B}(\Omega) \to [0, +\infty[$ satisfies the hypotheses (H1), (H2) and (H3), and that for every $A \in \mathcal{A}(\Omega)$ the function $F(\cdot, A)$ is positively 1-homogeneous on $BV(\Omega)$. Then there exist a Borel function $h : \Omega \times \mathbb{R}^N \to [0, +\infty[$ satisfying the inequalities

$$0 \leq h(x,z) \leq \gamma |z| \qquad orall z \in \Omega, \,\, orall z \in \mathbb{R}^N$$

such that $h(x, \cdot)$ is positively 1-homogeneous on \mathbb{R}^N for every $x \in \Omega$ and

(5.7)
$$F(u,B) = \int_{B} h(x,\nu_{u}(x))|Du|$$

for every $u \in BV(\Omega)$ and for every $B \in \mathcal{B}(\Omega)$.

PROOF. Since F satisfies hypotheses (H1), (H2) and (H3), there exist a measure $\mu \in M^b_+(\Omega)$, with $\alpha + \mathcal{L}^N \ll \mu$, and two Borel functions f, $h: \Omega \times \mathbb{R}^N \to [0, +\infty[$ satisfying conditions (i), (ii), (iii) and (iv) of Theorem 5.1. From (H1) and from our hypotheses it follows that $F(\cdot, B)$ is positively 1-homogeneous on $BV(\Omega)$ for every $B \in \mathcal{B}(\Omega)$. By Theorem 5.1(iv) we have

$$\int_{B} f(x, t\nabla_{\mu} u(x)) d\mu = F(tu, B) = tF(u, B) = t \int_{B} f(x, \nabla_{\mu} u(x)) d\mu$$

for every t > 0, for every $u \in BV(\Omega)$, and for every $B \in \mathcal{B}(\Omega)$ with $\int_{B} |D^{s}_{\mu}u| = 0$.

Therefore, for every $u \in BV(\Omega)$ we have $f(x, t\nabla_{\mu}u(x)) = tf(x, \nabla_{\mu}u(x))$ for μ -a.e. $x \in \Omega$. Arguing as in the last part of the proof of Theorem 2.3, we can prove that the function $f(x, \cdot)$ is positively 1-homogeneous on $E_{\mu}(x)$ for μ -a.e. $x \in \Omega$. As $f(x, z) = f(x, p_x(z))$ (Theorem 5.1(i)), we conclude that $f(x, \cdot)$ is positively 1-homogeneous on \mathbb{R}^N for μ -a.e. $x \in \Omega$. Therefore, from Theorem 5.1(ii) we obtain that $f(x, z) = h(x, p_x(z))$ for μ -a.e. $x \in \Omega$ and for every $z \in \mathbb{R}^N$. As $\nabla_{\mu}u(x) \in E_{\mu}(x)$ for μ -a.e. $x \in \Omega$, using Theorem 5.1(iv) we get

$$F(u,B) = \int_B h(x,\nabla_\mu(x))d\mu + \int_B h(x,\nu_u(x)) |D^s_\mu u|$$

for every $u \in BV(\Omega)$ and for every $B \in \mathcal{B}(\Omega)$. Since $\nu_u |\nabla_\mu u| = \nabla_\mu u \mu$ -a.e. in Ω , (5.7) follows from the homogeneity of h.

In Theorem 5.1 the measure μ depends on the functional *F*, as well as the functions *f* and *h*. We consider now the problem of the integral representation with respect to a prescribed measure λ .

THEOREM 5.6. Assume that the functional $F : BV(\Omega) \times \mathcal{B}(\Omega) \to [0, +\infty[$ satisfies hypotheses (H1), (H2) and (H3), and let $\lambda \in M^b_+(\Omega)$ enjoy $\alpha + \mathcal{L}^B \ll \lambda$. Then the following conditions are equivalent:

- (i) for every $B \in \mathcal{B}(\Omega)$ with $\lambda(B) = 0$ the function $F(\cdot, B)$ is positively 1-homogeneous on $BV(\Omega)$;
- (ii) there exist two Borel functions $f, h: \Omega \times \mathbb{R}^N \to [0, +\infty[$ which satisfy conditions (i), (ii), (iii) and (iv) of Theorem 5.1 with $\mu = \lambda$.

PROOF. It is clear that (ii) implies (i). Conversely, if (i) holds, then there exist a measure $\mu \in \mathcal{M}^b_+(\Omega)$, with $\alpha + \mathcal{L}^N \ll \mu$, and two Borel functions g, $h: \Omega \times \mathbb{R}^N \to [0, +\infty[$ satisfying conditions (i), (ii), (iii) and (iv) of Theorem 5.1 (here g plays the role of f). It is not restrictive to assume also that $\lambda \ll \mu$ (see the proof of Lemma 5.3). Let M be a Borel subset of Ω such that $\lambda(M) = 0$ and $\mu_s(\Omega \setminus M) = 0$, where μ_s is the singular part of μ with respect to λ . By our hypotheses (i), for every $B \in \mathcal{B}(\Omega)$, with $B \subseteq M$, we have

$$\int_{B} g(x, t\nabla_{\mu} u(x)) d\mu + \int_{B} h(x, \nu_{u}(x)) |tD_{\mu}^{s}u|$$
$$= t \int_{B} g(x, \nabla_{\mu} u(x)) d\mu + t \int_{B} h(x, \nu_{u}(x)) |D_{\mu}^{s}u|$$

for every t > 0 and for every $u \in BV(\Omega)$. As in Corollary 5.5, this implies that the function $g(x, \cdot)$ is positively 1-homogeneous on \mathbb{R}^N for μ -a.e. $x \in M$. Therefore, from Theorem 5.1(iii) we obtain that $g(x, z) = h(x, p_x(z))$ for μ -a.e. $x \in M$ and for every $z \in \mathbb{R}^N$. As $\nabla_{\mu} u(x) \in E_{\mu}(x)$ for μ -a.e. $x \in \Omega$, using Theorem 5.1(iv) we get

(5.8)
$$F(u,B) = \int_{B \setminus M} g(x, \nabla_{\mu} u(x)) d\mu + \int_{B \cap M} h(x, \nabla_{\mu} u(x)) d\mu + \int_{B \cap M} h(x, \nu_{\mu}(x)) |D_{\mu}^{s} u|$$

for every $u \in BV(\Omega)$ and for every $B \in \mathcal{B}(\Omega)$. Let us define $f : \Omega \times \mathbb{R}^N \to [0, +\infty[$ by

$$f(x,z) = g\left(x, \frac{d\lambda}{d\mu}(x)z\right) \frac{d\mu}{d\lambda}(x).$$

Then, for λ -a.e. $x \in \Omega$ the function $g(x, \cdot)$ is convex on \mathbb{R}^N . As $\lambda \ll \mu$, we have $\frac{d\lambda}{d\mu}\frac{d\mu}{d\lambda} = 1$ λ -a.e. in Ω and $\frac{d\alpha}{d\mu}\frac{d\mu}{d\lambda} = \frac{d\alpha}{d\lambda}$ λ -a.e. in Ω , hence

 $0 \leq f(x,z) \leq \frac{d\alpha}{d\lambda}(x) + \gamma |z|$ for λ -a.e. $x \in \Omega$ and for every $z \in \mathbb{R}^N$. Moreover, being $\nabla_{\mu}u = \nabla_{\lambda}u \frac{d\lambda}{d\mu}$ μ -a.e. in Ω and $\frac{d\lambda}{d\mu} > 0$ μ -a.e. in Ω and $\frac{d\lambda}{d\mu} > 0$ λ -a.e. in Ω , we have $E_{\lambda}(x) = E_{\mu}(x)$ for λ -a.e. $x \in \Omega$. Therefore the recession function f_{∞} satisfies $f_{\infty}(x,z) = h(x,p_x^{\lambda}(z))$ for λ -a.e. $x \in \Omega$ and for every $z \in \mathbb{R}^N$, where p_x^{λ} , denotes the orthogonal projection on the linear space $E_{\lambda}(x)$.

Let us fix $u \in BV(\Omega)$, and let N be a Borel subset of Ω , with $M \subseteq N$, such that $\lambda(N) = 0$ and $|D_{\lambda}^{s}u|(\Omega \setminus N) = 0$. Being $\lambda \ll \mu$, we have $|D_{\mu}^{s}u|(\Omega \setminus N) = 0$. As $\mu_s(N \setminus M) = 0$ and $\lambda(N \setminus M) = 0$, we also have $\mu(N \setminus M) = 0$. Since $\nabla_{\mu} u = \nabla u \frac{d\lambda}{d\mu}$ μ -a.e. in $\Omega \setminus M$ and $\nu_u |\nabla_\mu u| = \nabla_\mu u \mu$ -a.e. in Ω , from (5.8) we obtain

$$\begin{split} F(u,B) &= \int\limits_{B} f(x,\nabla_{\lambda}u(x))d\lambda + \int\limits_{B\cap N} h(x,\nu_{u}(x))|\nabla_{\mu}u|d\mu \\ &+ \int\limits_{B\cap N} h(x,\nu_{u}(x))|D_{\mu}^{s}u| \\ &= \int\limits_{B} f(x,\nabla_{\lambda}u(x))d\lambda + \int\limits_{B\cap N} h(x,\nu_{u}(x))|Du| \\ &= \int\limits_{B} f(x,\nabla_{\lambda}u(x))d\lambda + \int\limits_{B} h(x,\nu_{u}(x))|D_{\lambda}^{s}u|, \end{split}$$

which proves (ii).

The following corollary describes a situation where Theorem 5.6. can be applied.

COROLLARY 5.7. Assume that the functional $F: BV(\Omega) \times \mathcal{B}(\Omega) \to [0, +\infty)$ satisfies hypotheses (H1), (H2) and (H3). Let β , $\lambda \in M^b_+(\Omega)$, with $\alpha + \beta + \mathcal{L}^N \ll \lambda$. Assume, in addition, that

(5.9)
$$F(u+v,A) \le F(u,A) + F(v,A) + \beta(A)$$

for every $u, v \in BV(\Omega)$ and for every $A \in \mathcal{A}(\Omega)$. Then there exist two Borel functions f, $h: \Omega \times \mathbb{R}^N \to [0, +\infty[$ which satisfy conditions (i), (ii), (iii) and (iv) of Theorem 5.1 with $\mu = \lambda$.

PROOF. For every $A \in \mathcal{A}(\Omega)$ let $F_{\infty}(\cdot, A)$ be the recession function of $F(\cdot, A)$ defined in (2.27). By (2.28) and (5.9) we have

$$F(u, A) - \alpha(A) \le F_{\infty}(u, A) \le F(u, A) + \beta(A)$$

for every $u \in BV(\Omega)$ and for every $A \in \mathcal{A}(\Omega)$. Using the fact that $F(u, \cdot)$ is a

525

bounded Radon measure, for every $B \in \mathcal{B}(\Omega)$ we obtain

$$F(u, B) - \alpha(B) \le \inf\{F_{\infty}(u, A) : A \in \mathcal{A}(\Omega), B \subseteq A\} \le F(u, B) + \beta(B).$$

If $\lambda(B) = 0$, then $\alpha(B) = \beta(B) = 0$, hence

$$F(u, B) = \inf\{F_{\infty}(u, A) : A \in \mathcal{A}(\Omega), B \subseteq A\}.$$

As $F_{\infty}(\cdot, A)$ is positively 1-homogeneous for every $A \in \mathcal{A}(\Omega)$, we obtain that $F(\cdot, B)$ is positively 1-homogeneous on $BV(\Omega)$ for every $B \in \mathcal{B}(\Omega)$ with $\lambda(B) = 0$. The conclusion follows now from Theorem 5.6.

REMARK 5.8. It is clear from the proofs that all the results of this section still hold if we replace $BV(\Omega)$ by $BV(\Omega) \cap L^1(\Omega)$, or by $BV(\Omega) \cap L^{N/(N-1)}(\Omega)$, both in the hypotheses (H1), (H2) and (H3) and in the statements of the theorems. Moreover, the $L_{loc}^{N/(N-1)}(\Omega)$ -lower semicontinuity of $F(\cdot, A)$ was used only to prove the lower semicontinuity of the functional defined by (5.3) at each point of $BV(\Omega) \cap L^{N/(N-1)}(\Omega)$. Therefore, it may be replaced by the $L^{N/(N-1)}(\Omega)$ -lower semicontinuity of $F(\cdot, A)$ on $BV(\Omega) \cap L^{N/(N-1)}(\Omega)$, or by any stronger assumption, like, for instance, $L^1(\Omega)$ -lower semicontinuity on $BV(\Omega) \cap L^1(\Omega)$.

6. - Integral representation of Γ -limits

In this section we prove an integral representation theorem for Γ -limits of area-type functionals. Let us begin by recalling the definition of Γ -limit (see [18]). Given a metric space M, we say that a sequence of functions $F_n: M \to \overline{\mathbb{R}}$ is Γ -convergent in M to a function $F: M \to \overline{\mathbb{R}}$ if both the following conditions are satisfied for every $u \in M$:

- (a) for every sequence (u_n) converging to u in M we have $F(u) \leq \liminf_{n \to \infty} F_n(u_n)$;
- (b) there exists a sequence (v_n) converging to u in M such that $F(u) = \lim_{n \to \infty} F_n(v_n)$.

This notion of convergence is called also epi-convergence, because it is equivalent to the convergence, in the sense of Kuratowski, of the epigraph of the functions F_n . Together with other similar notions, Γ -convergence has been used by several authors to investigate asymptotic properties of variational problems. We refer to the book [5] for a general treatment of this subject and for a wide bibliography on related topics.

Let $j_n: \Omega \times \mathbb{R}^{\bar{N}} \to [0, +\infty[$ be a sequence of (possibly non-convex) Borel functions such that

(6.1)
$$\gamma_1|z| \leq j_n(x,z) \leq a(x) + \gamma_2|z| \quad \forall n \in \mathbb{N}, \ \forall x \in \Omega, \ \forall z \in \mathbb{R}^N,$$

where the function $a \in L^1(\Omega)$ and the constants γ_1 and γ_2 , with $0 < \gamma_1 \le \gamma_2$, are independent of *n*. Let us consider the corresponding integral functionals $J_n : L^1(\Omega) \times \mathcal{A}(\Omega) \to [0, +\infty]$ defined by

(6.2)
$$J_n(u,A) = \begin{cases} \int j_n(x,\nabla u)dx & \text{if } u|_A \in W^{1,1}(A), \\ A & \\ +\infty & \text{otherwise.} \end{cases}$$

A general compactness result about Γ -limits of integral functionals, whose main ideas go back to [17], states that there exist a subsequence of (J_n) , still denoted by (J_n) , and a functional $J : L^1(\Omega) \times \mathcal{A}(\Omega) \to [0, +\infty]$, such that for every $A \in \mathcal{A}(\Omega)$:

(6.3)
$$J_n(\cdot, A)$$
 Γ -converges to $J(\cdot, A)$ in $L^1(\Omega)$,

(4.16), based on Proposition 4.16 and Theorem 6.1 of [16].

(6.4)
$$J(u, A) = \sup \{ J(u, A') : A' \in \mathcal{A}(\Omega), A' \subset \subset A \} \qquad \forall u \in L^1(\Omega),$$

(6.5)
$$\gamma_1 \int_A |Du| \leq J(u,A) \leq \int_A a dx + \gamma_2 \int_A |Du| \qquad \forall u \in L^1(\Omega),$$

with the usual convention that $\int |Du| = +\infty$ if $u|_A \notin BV(A)$ (see [23], Definition 1.1). For the proof we refer to [9] (see, in particular, Proposition 2.4, Theorem 3.8, and the first lines of the proof of Theorem 4.3). The same result can be obtained also by a slightly different argument, similar to the proof of

The following theorem provides an integral representation of J. It can be considered as an extension to $BV(\Omega)$ of some of the results of [17].

THEOREM 6.1. Let (j_n) be a sequence of Borel integrands satisfying (6.1) and let (J_n) be the corresponding sequence of integral functionals defined by (6.2). Assume that (6.3) holds for every $A \in \mathcal{A}(\Omega)$. Then there exist a measure $\mu \in \mathcal{M}^b_+(\Omega)$, with $\mathcal{L}^N \ll \mu$, and two Borel functions $f, h : \Omega \times \mathbb{R}^N \to [0, +\infty]$, such that

(i) for μ -a.e. $x \in \Omega$ the function $f(x, \cdot)$ is convex on \mathbb{R}^N and satisfies

$$|\gamma_1|z| \leq f(x,z) = f(x,p_x(z)) \leq a(x) \frac{d\mathcal{L}^N}{d\mu} (x) + \gamma_2|z| \qquad \forall z \in \mathbb{R}^N,$$

where p_x denotes the orthogonal projection on the linear space $E_{\mu}(x)$ defined in (2.2);

...

(ii) for every $x \in \Omega$ the function $h(x, \cdot)$ is positively 1-homogeneous on \mathbb{R}^N and

$$|\gamma_1|z| \leq h(x,z) \leq \gamma_2|z| \qquad \forall z \in \mathbb{R}^N;$$

(iii) for μ -a.e. $x \in \Omega$ we have

G. BOUCHITTÉ - G. DAL MASO

$$f_{\infty}(x,z) = h(x,p_x(z)) \qquad \forall z \in \mathbb{R}^N,$$

where f_{∞} is the recession function of f with respect to z defined in (4.8); (iv) for every $A \in \mathcal{A}(\Omega)$ and for every $u \in L^{1}(\Omega)$ we have

$$J(u,A) = \begin{cases} \int_{A} f(x, \nabla_{\mu} u(x)) d\mu + \int_{A} h(x, \nu_{u}(x)) |Du_{\mu}^{s}u| & \text{if } u|_{A} \in BV(A), \\ +\infty & \text{otherwise.} \end{cases}$$

PROOF. Let $F : (BV(\Omega) \cap L^1(\Omega)) \times \mathcal{B}(\Omega) \to [0, +\infty[$ be the functional defined by

(6.6)
$$F(u,B) = \inf\{J(u,A) : A \in \mathcal{A}(\Omega), B \subseteq A\}.$$

Since $J(u, \cdot)$ is increasing on $\mathcal{A}(\Omega)$, we have

(6.7)
$$J(u, A) = F(u, A) \qquad \forall u \in BV(\Omega) \cap L^{1}(\Omega), \ \forall A \in \mathcal{A}(\Omega).$$

Moreover, it is possible to prove that:

- (6.8) for every $u \in BV(\Omega) \cap L^1(\Omega)$ the set function $F(u, \cdot)$ is a Borel measure on Ω ;
- (6.9) for every $A \in \mathcal{A}(\Omega)$ the function $F(\cdot, A)$ is convex and $L^{1}(\Omega)$ -lower semicontinuous on $BV(\Omega) \cap L^{1}(\Omega)$;
- (6.10) for every $u \in BV(\Omega) \cap L^1(\Omega)$ and for every $B \in \mathcal{B}(\Omega)$ we have

$$\gamma_1 \int\limits_B |Du| \leq F(u,B) \leq \int\limits_B a dx + \gamma_2 \int\limits_B |Du|.$$

Property (6.8) is proved in [9], Theorem 3.8. Since $J(u, \cdot)$ satisfies (6.4), property (6.8) follows also from Theorems 4.18 and 6.1 of [16]. The $L^1(\Omega)$ -lower semicontinuity of $F(\cdot, A)$ is a consequence of (6.7) and of a general property of Γ -limits (see [18], Proposition 1.8, or [5], Theorem 2.1).

We now prove the convexity of $F(\cdot, A)$. For every $A \in \mathcal{A}(\Omega)$ let $\overline{J}_n(\cdot, A)$ be the greatest $L^1(\Omega)$ -lower semicontinuous function less than or equal to $J_n(\cdot A)$. It can be proved that there exists a Borel function $f_n(x, z)$, convex in z, such that

$$\overline{J}_n(u,A) = \int\limits_A f_n(x,\nabla u)dx$$

for every $A \in \mathcal{A}(\Omega)$ and for every $u \in L^1(\Omega)$ with $u|_A \in W^{1,1}(A)$ (see [10], Corollary 2.3). See also [20], Chapter X, and [25] for similar results under slightly different hypotheses on $j_n(x, z)$. Let $F_n : L^1(\Omega) \times \mathcal{A}(\Omega) \to [0, +\infty]$ be

529

defined by

$$F_n(u, A) = \begin{cases} \int f_n(x, \nabla u) dx & \text{if } u|_A \in W^{1,1}(A), \\ \\ +\infty & \text{otherwise.} \end{cases}$$

Since, for every $A \in \mathcal{A}(\Omega)$, $\overline{J}_n(\cdot, A)$ Γ -converges to $J(\cdot, A)$ in $L^1(\Omega)$ (see [18], Proposition 1.11, or [5], Corollary 2.7), and $\overline{J}_n(\cdot, A) \leq F_n(\cdot, A) \leq J_n(\cdot, A)$, by comparison we conclude that $F_n(\cdot, A)$ Γ -converges to $J(\cdot, A)$ in $L^1(\Omega)$. Since $F_n(\cdot, A)$ is convex, and convexity is preserved by Γ -limits, we obtain that $J(\cdot, A)$ is convex on $L^1(\Omega)$, hence $F(\cdot, A)$ is convex on $BV(\Omega) \cap L^1(\Omega)$ and the proof of (6.9) is complete.

Finally (6.10) is an easy consequence of (6.5) and (6.6).

By Theorem 5.1 and Remark 5.8, from (6.8), (6.9) and (6.10) it follows that there exist μ , f and h satisfying conditions (i), (ii) and (iii) of Theorem 5.1, such that

(6.11)
$$F(u,B) = \int_{B} f(x, \nabla_{\mu} u(x)) d\mu + \int_{B} h(x, \nu_{u}(x)) |D_{\mu}^{s}u|$$

for every $u \in BV(\Omega) \cap L^1(\Omega)$ and for every $B \in \mathcal{B}(\Omega)$. The additional inequalities involving $\gamma_1|z|$ required in Theorem 6.1 are an easy consequence of (6.10). If we take $B = A \in \mathcal{A}(\Omega)$ in (6.11), by (6.7) we obtain

(6.12)
$$J(u,A) = \int_{A} f(x, \nabla_{\mu} u(x)) d\mu + \int_{A} h(x, \nu_{u}(x)) |D_{\mu}^{s} u|$$

for every $u \in BV(\Omega) \cap L^1(\Omega)$. We now prove that (6.12) holds under the weaker assumption $u|_A \in BV(A)$.

Let $A \in \mathcal{A}(\Omega)$ and let $u \in L^1(\Omega)$ with $u|_A \in BV(A)$. For every $A' \in \mathcal{A}(\Omega)$ with $A' \subset \subset A$ there exists $v \in BV(\Omega) \cap L^1(\Omega)$ such that v = u a.e. on A'. By the definition of Γ -limit, we have J(u, A') = J(v, A'). Moreover $\nabla_{\mu}u = \nabla_{\mu}v$, $\nu_u = \nu_v$, and $D_u^s u = D_u^s v$ on A'. Therefore (6.12) implies that

$$J(u, A') = \int_{A'} f(x, \nabla_{\mu} u(x)) d\mu + \int_{A'} h(x, \nu_u(x)) |D^s_{\mu} u|.$$

By (6.4) the same equality holds with A' replaced by A. This proves (iv) in the case $u|_A \in BV(A)$. If $u|_A \notin BV(A)$, then (6.5) implies that $J(u, A) = +\infty$.

In Theorem 6.1 the assumption that J_n is an integral functional is not essential. It can be replaced by more qualitative hypotheses as, for instance, the following set of assumptions:

(6.13) if $u, v \in L^1(\Omega)$, $A \in \mathcal{A}(\Omega)$, and u = v a.e. on A, then $J_n(u, A) = J_n(v, A)$;

- (6.14) for every $u \in L^1(\Omega)$ the set function $J_n(u, \cdot)$ is the restriction to $\mathcal{A}(\Omega)$ of a Borel measure on Ω ;
- (6.15) there exist two constants γ_1 , $\gamma_2 \in]0, +\infty[$ and a function $a \in L^1(\Omega)$ such that

$$\gamma_1 \int_A |Du| \le J_n(u, A) \le \int_A a dx + \gamma_2 \int_A |Du| \quad \forall u \in L^1(\Omega), \ \forall A \in \mathcal{A}(\Omega),$$

where $\int_A |Du| = +\infty$ whenever $u|_A \notin BV(A).$

By using Proposition 4.16 and Theorem 6.4 of [16], we can still prove that there exist a subsequence of (J_n) and a functional $J : L^1(\Omega) \times \mathcal{A}(\Omega) \to [0, +\infty]$ such that (6.3), (6.4) and (6.5) hold for every $A \in \mathcal{A}(\Omega)$. Moreover, by Theorem 4.18 and 6.4 of [16], one obtains that $J(u, \cdot)$ is the restriction to $\mathcal{A}(\Omega)$ of a Borel measure on Ω . Repeating, with obvious modifications, the proof of Theorem 6.1, we obtain the following result:

THEOREM 6.2. The conclusions (i), (ii), (iii) and (iv) of Theorem 6.1 hold for an arbitrary sequence of functionals (J_n) satisfying (6.3), (6.13), (6.14) and (6.15).

REMARK 6.3. Condition (6.15) in Theorem 6.2 can be replaced by the following assumptions:

$$\begin{split} \gamma_1 \int\limits_A |\nabla u| dx &\leq J_n(u,A) \leq \int\limits_A (a+\gamma_2 |\nabla u|) dx \qquad \text{if } u|_A \in W^{1,1}(A), \\ J_n(u,A) &= +\infty \qquad \text{if } u|_A \notin W^{1,1}(A). \end{split}$$

With these modifications, Theorem 6.2 includes Theorem 6.1.

The following example shows that, in general, we cannot take $\mu = \mathcal{L}^N$ in the integral representation of Γ -limits provided by Theorem 6.1.

EXAMPLE 6.4. Let N = 1 and $\Omega =] - 1, 1[$. Let us consider a convex function $g : \mathbb{R} \to [0, +\infty[$ such that

$$(6.16) |z| \le g(z) \le 2|z| \forall z \in \mathbb{R},$$

(6.17)
$$g(tz) \neq tg(z) \qquad \forall z > 0, \forall t > 0.$$

An example is given by $g(z) = |z| - 1 + \sqrt{1 + |z|^2}$. Let $a_n(x) = 1$ for $|x| \ge 1/n$, and $a_n(x) = n/2$ for |x| < 1/n. Then the integrand $j_n : \Omega \times \mathbb{R} \to [0, +\infty[$, defined by $j_n(x, z) = g(z/a_n(x))a_n(x)$, is convex in z and, by (6.16), it satisfies the inequalities

$$|z| \leq j_n(x,z) \leq 2|z| \qquad \forall x \in \Omega, \ \forall z \in \mathbb{R}.$$

If λ_n is the Radon measure on Ω given by $\lambda_n(B) = \int_B a_n dx$, then the integral functional J_n defined by (6.2) can be written as

$$J_n(u, A) = \begin{cases} \int g(\nabla_{\lambda_n} u) d\lambda_n & \text{if } u|_A \in W^{1,1}_{\lambda_n}(A), \\ \\ +\infty & \text{otherwise.} \end{cases}$$

The sequence (λ_n) converges in the weak^{*} topology of $\mathcal{M}^b(\Omega)$ to the measure $\lambda = \delta + \mathcal{L}^1$, where δ denotes the Dirac mass at the origin. Therefore, the results of [11] (see also [6]) show that $J_n(\cdot, A)$ Γ -converges to $J(\cdot, A)$ in $L^1(\Omega)$ for every $A \in \mathcal{A}(\Omega)$, where

(6.18)
$$J(u,A) = \begin{cases} \int g(\nabla_{\lambda}u)d\lambda + \int g_{\infty}(\nu_u)|D_{\lambda}^s u| & \text{if } u|_A \in BV(A), \\ +\infty & \text{otherwise,} \end{cases}$$

 g_{∞} being the recession function of g.

Suppose, by contradiction, that J can also be represented as in Theorem 6.1 with $\mu = \mathcal{L}^1$, that is to say

(6.19)
$$J(u, A) = \int_{A} f(x, \nabla u(x)) dx + \int_{A} h(x, \nu_u(x)) |D^s u| \qquad \forall u \in BV(\Omega),$$
$$\forall A \in \mathcal{A}(\Omega).$$

Let $w \in BV(\Omega)$ be the function defined by w(x) = 0 for x < 0, and w(x) = 1 for x > 0. For every t > 0 from (6.18) we get $J(tw, \Omega) = g(t)$, while (6.19) yields $J(tw, \Omega) = ct$, with c = h(0, 1). This implies that g(t) = ct for every t > 0, which contradicts (6.17).

The following theorem describes a situation where the Γ -limit can be represented by an integral with $\mu = \mathcal{L}^N$. Note that the additional hypothesis on (j_n) is always satisfied if $\gamma_1 = \gamma_2$ in (6.1).

THEOREM 6.5. In addition to the hypotheses of Theorem 6.1, assume that for every $n \in \mathbb{N}$

$$j_n(x,z_1+z_2) \leq j_n(x,z_1) + j_n(x,z_2) + b(x) \qquad \forall x \in \Omega, \ \forall z_1, \ z_2 \in \mathbb{R}^N,$$

where $b \in L^1(\Omega)$ is a function independent of n. Then there exist two Borel functions f, $h: \Omega \times \mathbb{R}^N \to [0, +\infty]$ which satisfy conditions (i), (ii), (iii) and (iv) of Theorem 6.1 with $\mu = \mathcal{L}^N$.

PROOF. It is easy to see that under our hypotheses we have

$$J_n(u+v,A) \leq J_n(u,A) + J_n(v,A) + \int_A b dx \quad \forall u, v \in L^1(\Omega), \forall A \in \mathcal{A}(\Omega).$$

Since this inequality is preserved by Γ -convergence, we obtain

$$J(u+v,A) \leq J(u,A) + J(v,A) + \int_A b dx \qquad \forall u, \ v \in L^1(\Omega), \ \forall A \in \mathcal{A}(\Omega).$$

The conclusion follows now from (6.7) and from Corollary 5.7.

REFERENCES

- [1] G. ALBERTI, *Rank one properties for derivatives of functions with bounded variation*. Proc. Roy. Soc. Edinburgh Sect. A, to appear.
- [2] G. ALBERTI G. BUTTAZZO, Integral representation of functionals defined on Sobolev spaces. Composite media and homogenization theory, 1-12 Birkhäuser, Boston, 1991.
- [3] G. ANZELLOTTI, Pairing between measures and bounded functions and compensated compactness. Ann. Mat. Pura Appl. (4) 135 (1983), 293-318.
- [4] G. ANZELLOTTI, *Traces of bounded vectorfields and the divergence theorem*. Preprint Univ. Trento, 1983.
- [5] H. ATTOUCH, Variational convergence for functions and operators. Pitman, London, 1984.
- [6] G. BOUCHITTÉ, Représentation intégrale de fonctionelles convexes sur un espace de mesures. II. Cas de l'épi-convergence. Ann. Univ. Ferrara Sez. VII (N.S.) 33 (1987), 113-156.
- [7] G. BOUCHITTÉ M. VALADIER, Integral representation of convex functionals on a space of measures. J. Funct. Anal. 80 (1988), 398-420.
- [8] G. BUTTAZZO, Semicontinuity, relaxation and integral representation problems in the calculus of variations. Pitman Res. Notes in Math., Longman, Harlow, 1989.
- [9] G. BUTTAZZO G. DAL MASO, Γ-limits of integral functionals. J. Analyse Math. 37 (1980), 145-185.
- [10] G. BUTTAZZO G. DAL MASO, Integral representation and relaxation of local functionals. Nonlinear Anal. 9 (1985), 515-532.
- [11] G. BUTTAZZO L. FREDDI, Functionals defined on measures and applications to non equi-uniformly elliptic problems. Ann. Mat. Pura Appl. (4) 159 (1991), 133-149.
- [12] L. CARBONE C. SBORDONE, Some properties of Γ-limits of integral functionals. Ann. Mat. Pura Appl. (4) 122 (1979), 1-60.
- [13] M. CARRIERO E. PASCALI, Γ-convergenza di integrali non negativi maggiorati da funzionali del tipo dell'area. Ann. Univ. Ferrara Sez. VII (N.S.) 24 (1978), 51-64.
- [14] C. CASTAING M. VALADIER, Convex analysis and measurable multifunctions. Lecture Notes in Math. 580, Springer-Verlag, Berlin, 1977.
- [15] G. DAL MASO, Integral representation on $BV(\Omega)$ of Γ -limits of variational integrals. Manuscripta Math. **30** (1980), 387-416.
- [16] G. DAL MASO L. MODICA, A general theory of variational functionals. Topics in functional analysis (1980-1981), 149-221, Quaderni Scuola Norm. Sup. Pisa, Pisa, 1981.

- [17] E. DE GIORGI, Sulla convergenza di alcune successioni di integrali del tipo dell'area. Rend. Mat (6) 8 (1975), 277-294.
- [18] E. DE GIORGI T. FRANZONI, Su un tipo di convergenza variazionale. Atti Accad. Naz. Lincei Rend. Cl. Sci. Fis. Mat. Natur. (8) 58 (1975), 842-850, and Rend. Sem. Mat. Brescia 3 (1979), 63-101.
- [19] N. DUNFORD J.T. SCHWARTZ, Linear operators. Interscience, New York, 1957.
- [20] I. EKELAND R. TEMAM, Convex analysis and variational problems. North-Holland, Amsterdam, 1976.
- [21] A. GAVIOLI, Necessary and sufficient conditions for the lower semicontinuity of certain integral functionals. Ann. Univ. Ferrara Sez. VII (N.S.), 34 (1988), 219-236.
- [22] M. GIAQUINTA G. MODICA J. SOUCEK, Functionals with linear growth in the calculus of variations. I. Comment. Math. Univ. Carolin. 20 (1979), 143-156.
- [23] E. GIUSTI, Minimal surfaces and functions of bounded variation. Birkhäuser, Boston, 1984.
- [24] C. GOFFMAN, J. SERRIN, Sublinear functions of measures and variational integrals. Duke Math. J. 31 (1964), 159-178.
- [25] P. MARCELLINI C. SBORDONE, Semicontinuity problems in the calculus of variations. Nonlinear Anal. 4 (1980), 241-257.
- [26] V.G. MAZ'YA, Sobolev spaces. Springer-Verlag, Berlin, 1985.
- [27] R.T. ROCKAFELLAR, Convex Analysis. Princeton University Press, Princeton, 1970.
- [28] R.T. ROCKAFELLAR, Convex integral functionals and duality. Contributions to Nonlinear Functional Analysis, 215-236. Academic Press, New York, 1971.
- [29] R.T. ROCKAFELLAR, Conjugate duality and optimization. CBMS-NSF Regional Conf. Ser. in Appl. Math. 16, SIAM, Philadelphia, 1974.
- [30] C. SBORDONE, Su alcune applicazioni di un tipo di convergenza variazionale. Ann. Scuola Norm. Sup. Pisa. Cl. Sci. (4) 2 (1975), 617-638.
- [31] J. SERRIN, On the definition and properties of certain variational integrals. Trans. Amer. Math. Soc. 101 (1961), 139-167.
- [32] L.M. SIMON, Lectures on geometric measure theory. Proc. of the Centre for Mathematical Analysis (Canberra), Australian National University, 3, 1983.
- [33] R. TEMAM, Problèmes mathematiques en plasticité. Gauthier-Villars, Paris, 1983.
- [34] M. VALADIER, Multi-applications measurables à valeurs convexes compactes. J. Math. Pures Appl. 50 (1971), 265-297.
- [35] A.I. VOL'PERT S.I. HUDJAEV, Analysis in classes of discontinuous functions and equations of mathematical physics. Martinus Nijhoff Publishers, Dordrecht, 1985.

Mathématiques Université de Toulon et du Var BP 132 83957 La Garde Cedex (France)

S.I.S.S.A. Via Beirut, 4 34014 Trieste (Italy)